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Who Is Koon?

Koon Holdings Limited
(“Koon Holdings”)

Koon Construction
& Transport

Co. Pte Ltd (“Koon”)

100%

Koon Zinkcon
Pte Ltd
(“KZ”)

50%

Gems Marine
Pte Ltd

(“Gems”)

Entire Engineering
Pte Ltd

(“Entire”)

subsidiaries investment

100% 100%

“One of Singapore’s largest domestic civil engineering,
reclamation and shore protection specialists”
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HEriTaGE

Koon began in 1975 as a small sole proprietorship 
transporting rocks and stones for major international 
construction companies.  Ability brought early success.  
Koon determined that it wanted to capitalise on this success 
and move up the value chain.  

In 1979, Koon was incorporated and raised capital.  With 
this boost in funds, it was able to increase manpower and 
equipment allowing it to collaborate more closely with 
international firms. This in turn allowed it to gain technical 
expertise.  Koon focused on reclamation and related 
works.

In 1985, it went into a joint venture with a major marine 
engineering company, Zinkcon, to form Koon-Zinkcon 
which specialized in the protection of reclaimed shorelines.  
Zinkcon is now part of Royal Boskalis Westminster nv 
(“Boskalis”), a major international dredging and offshore 
engineering firm.  This joint venture was very successful. 
It was therefore decided to make it permanent and was 
incorporated in 1997 as Koon-Zinkcon Pte Ltd (“KZ”).  
Whilst Koon still owns 50% of KZ, it is now being managed 
by persons independent of Koon.  Accordingly it is treated 
as an investment and only dividend accounted.  

Koon Holdings Limited, an investment holding company, 
was incorporated specifically for listing on the Australian 
and Singapore Stock Exchanges.  Koon is the main 
operating company of the Group.  For taxation and other 
reasons, company equipment is owned by separate entities: 
Entire owns and manages the Group’s land-based plant 
and equipment such as cranes and trucks; and Gems 
owns and manages the Group’s seaborne assets such as 
barges and tugs.

COMPany aCTiviTiES

Koon has grown very significantly since 1977 and is now 
arguably one of the largest Singapore domestic civil 
engineering, reclamation and shore protection specialists.  
Koon is registered under the A1 category in civil engineering 
with the Building and Construction Authority (BCA). It is 
also certified in integrated management system which 
covers Quality (ISO 9001), Environmental (ISO 14000) and 
Occupational Health and Safety (OHSAS 18001). 

Normally, Koon operates as a main contractor on many 
of its own projects. On larger scale projects, particularly 
those on reclamation, Koon participates in joint ventures 
with other larger partners. This is mainly due to project 
requirement reasons – few groups have all the required 
resources to win and execute such projects alone.

In the last two decades, Koon has successfully completed 
a list of reclamation projects in Singapore which had 
contributed to the increase of Singapore’s land area by 
about twenty percent. These completed projects now 
form the new coastal lines of Singapore. They are at the 
WEST – Jurong Island & Tuas View,  SOUTH – Marina 
Bay, Tanjung Rhu, Sentosa Cove & Pasir Panjang, EAST 
– Changi and NORTH – Punggol. The yet to be lifted ban on 
marine sand by the Indonesian Government has impeded 
the implementation of our nation’s reclamation plans and 
the industry’s progress.  

Over the last couple of years, Koon has executed a higher 
percentage of water, sewage and power projects. Amongst 
the more notable are Bedok WPP and, Ulu Pandan 
WRP. The $118M Serangoon Dam project is currently in 
progress.

In addition, infrastructure projects have also become 
an important driver for Koon. In recent years, we had 
completed works like the Singapore Airshow, Pang Sua 
Canal and Meranti Infra. Currently we are executing the 
Construction Industries Park for BCA and Ingral 1 Gardens 
by the Bay for the National Parks Board (NParks).
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From the Chairman’s office

Dear Stakeholders,

It has been a bittersweet year for the civil engineering construction industry in Singapore as well as the Group. 

The Singapore economy had grown by 7.7%1 in 2007, with the construction industry experiencing a full year growth of 
about 20.3%2, a significant increase over the growth in 2006 of 3.6%3.

Contracts Awarded: (year-on-year change)�

2006 2007
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Contracts awarded -31.2% 83.3% 162.7% 36.9% 31.5% 103.9% -23.3% 127.8%
Public -30.7% 37.0% 3.7% 4.1% -16.3% 68.8% 98.4.% 79.9%
Private -31.4% 101.7% 231.1% 57.3% 61.2% 113.3% -39.7% 147.4%

Certified Payments: (year-on-year change)�

2006 2007
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Contracts awarded -1.7% 7.7% 13.7% 4.8% 16.9% 28.0% 30.8% 35.1%
Public -17.2% -19.4% -7.1% -11.8% -6.6% 3.8% 1.4% 2.9%
Private 21.5% 34.5% 31.9% 19.0% 40.8% 42.5% 49.0% 55.5%

The year began with a Q1 year-on-year contraction of 16.3% in public contracts awarded; a banning of granite and land 
sand (used in concrete) and other adverse developments. However, the ban was lifted and contracts then grew strongly 
during the 2nd, 3rd and 4th quarters, bringing about an increase in the volume of activities for the year as a whole 
compared to 2006. However, the improvement in contracts awarded will only start generating meaningful benefits to 
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From the Chairman’s Office

civil contractors in 2008. This is evidenced by the fact that from the 2nd quarter onwards to the end of the year, certified 
payments of contracts awarded by the public sector has improved, but by significantly less when compared to the rise 
in contracts awarded. 

Although there are signs of recovery for the construction industry, for reclamation specialist like ourselves, the issue on 
the resumption of significant marine sand supplies remains unclear at the time of this writing.

Despite some unforeseen events encountered during the first half of the year, our revenue has risen by 31%, and we 
have returned to profitability in 2007. This should be considered more than satisfactory, given the continued inadequate 
supply of marine sand, sharps rises in building material price and the high fuel prices of recent years.

Our reputation within the industry remains strong as we understand via feedbacks from our customers and project 
partners. This is reassuring, given our continual efforts in providing value for money engineering deliverables and services 
to customers over the years.

The Future

The keys to profitability in 2008 will be the sustainability of the state of growth of the civil engineering industry and the 
supply of marine sand.  While there are indications of recovery and further growth for the industry in the coming years, 
brought about by the development of Singapore’s Integrated Resorts and the need to provide for the inaugural Youth 
Olympics, we remain modest in our expectations and will be doubling our efforts in search of other opportunities, such 
as overseas expansion and product/service diversity.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to all our shareholders, employees and business 
partners, for their support which enabled our business achievements over the past years.  

We look forward to your continuing support as Koon Holdings moves ahead in 2008 and beyond.

Dr. Wang Kai Yuen
Chairman

1  Economic Survey of Singapore 2007 Page 1
2  Economic Survey of Singapore 2007 Page 2
3  Economic Survey of Singapore 2007 Page 2
4  Economic Survey of Singapore 2007 Page 218
5  Economic Survey of Singapore 2007 Page 218
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YEAR IN REVIEW

From the Chairman’s Office

Revenue increased 
-  Several larger projects reached 20% 

completion during 2007 and revenues 
and profits could therefore be booked in 
accordingly.  Our 50% owned investment 
Koon-Zinkcon (KZ) had also distributed 
some dividends to us.

Gross margin increased
-  Margins from projects recognised in 2nd 

half of 2007 enabled a turnaround from 
our loss position during the first half of 
the year.  In addition, the dividends from 
our 50% owned investment KZ also 
contributed to an improvement in our 
margins.

Net profit increased
-  Mainly due to recognition of profits 

from projects which had reached 20% 
completion and also dividends from our 
50% owned investment.

Cashflow improved
-  Due to dividends received from our 50% 

owned investment KZ
-  Due to receipts from completed or near 

completion projects
-  Due to good debtor management

6

For the Year ending 31 December 

Financial Performance (S$ million) 

FY2007 FY2006 

Revenue 143.88 112.60 

- dividends 4.00 -

Cost of Goods Sold (140.21) (113.62) 

Earnings Before Interest & Depreciation 7.67 (1.02) 

Interest (0.18) (0.14) 

Depreciation (1.03) (1.65) 

Earnings before Tax 6.46 (2.81) 

Tax (0.29) -

Net Profit (Loss) After Tax 6.17 (2.81) 

   

Cashflow (S$ million)   

FY2007 FY2006 

Operating cashflow before funding 

working capital 3.61 (2.29) 

Net cashflow from operating activities (1.66) 6.11 

Net operating cashflow after all investing 

activities 0.59 7.31 

Net operating cashflow after all activities 0.96 1.89 

Cash at 31 December 2006 4.46 2.57 

Cash at 31 December 2007 5.42 4.46 
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Receivables
-  Credit risk should not be an issue as 

we mainly perform work for Singapore 
Government owned or control led 
entities

-  Collection has improved with our diligent 
efforts

Inventory
-  We do not book revenue or earnings 

from projects that are less than 20% 
complete

-  Such work is booked as work-in-
progress

-  Work-in-progress is the main part of 
Inventory

-  Increased due to work done near year 
end which have not been certified

Increased due to work done and material 
purchases by and from sub-contractors and 
suppliers near the end of the year

Total Equity
-  Increased as profits were made during 

the year

7

Interest bearing liabilities
-  Increased as new financing for hire 

purchases were taken

For the Year ending 31 December 

Financial Position (S$ million) 

FY2007 FY2006 

9.66 8.35 Cash 

16.30 16.27 Receivables 

20.00 4.93 Inventory 

0.59 0.97 Investments 

46.55 30.52 Current Assets 

10.66 6.79 Fixed Assets 

57.21 37.31 Total Assets 

27.98 16.49 Payables 

- - Short term debt 

1.38 1.14 Current portion of Bank Debt & Leases 

0.03 0.02 Other Current Liabilities 

3.28 1.30 Non-Current Bank Debt, Leases and Others 

32.67 18.95 Total Liabilities 

24.54 18.36 Net Assets 

6.66 6.66 Paid-up Capital 

17.88 11.70 Reserves and Retained Earnings 

24.54 18.36 Total Equity 
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OUR 
RESPONSIBILITIES, 
VISION and  
MISSION 

From the Chairman’s Office

Below is a summary of:
• Our responsibilities with respect to various stakeholders;
• Our beliefs on what such responsibilities mean today and over the next five years; and
• Our intended methods of discharging this responsibility.

The summary shows what we are doing to achieve a balanced scorecard.

8

STAKEHOLDER RESPONSIBILITY VISION MISSION 

Clients Get what they pay for plus 
a little more

• Reliable, long term value add 
strategic partner 
- within cost 
- in time 
- good quality/low defects 
- other non-monetary goals 

Main focus: knowledge, productivity and execution 
- cost efficient (lower MYE etc.)
- design & build (alliances, clever use of design)
- turnkey, financial and complex solutions
- anticipate needs
- one stop shop 

Suppliers Long term business 
partnership

• To outsource all non-mission 
critical activities 
- labour intensive business 
- select procurements 
- specialist one-off work 

Main focus: to be a reliable, long term quality buyer 
- fair margins
- reasonable payment terms
- good credit risk

Employees Preferred employer • World class employer Strong technical and commercial management. 
Trained and well motivated staff. 
- personal growth opportunities 
- appropriate remuneration 
- good working environment 
- good systems 
- good communications 

Providers of 
debt capital

Premium client • Strong financial position 
• Reasonable & loyal customers 

Good risk management that includes good 
tendering, cashflow and debt management 
- reasonable net gearing 
- low contingent liabilities 
- first right of refusal 
- good communications 

Providers of 
equity capital

Maximise returns • Absolute return plus solid 
 capital growth 

Management industry cycles to ensure good steady 
performance 
- profitable (absolute return) 
- 15-20% pa capital growth 
- consistent dividend 
- transparency & communication 
- good corporate governance 

 

Society Good corporate citizen • Good Corporate governance 
• Value add to society 

- Make emplyees aware of wider 
community issues 

To be conscious that we have responsibilities to 
society as a whole 
- meet all legal obligations including tax payable
- sustainable construction & the environment 
- Be aware of social needs 
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Background of Directors & Key Management Staff

Dr Wang Kai Yuen, Non-Executive 
Cha i r man ,  and  I ndependen t 
Director, Chairman of Nominating 
Committee. and member of the Audit 
and Compensation Committees.  
Age: 60

Dr Wang retired from a distinguished 
career as a Member of Parliament of 
Singapore in April 2006. He served 
in the Bukit Timah Constituency and 
was the Chairman of the Feedback 
Unit Supervisory Panel from Oct 
2002 till his retirement.  Dr Wang 
is the Managing Director of Fuji 
Xerox Singapore Software Centre, a 
technology and software centre with 
120 employees. Dr Wang has had 
significant involvement in electronics 
and technology for many years.  He 
won a Merit Scholarship to NUS 
for his B. Engineering degree in 
Electrical and Electronic Engineering 
and a Ford Foundation Scholarship to 
Stanford University where he received 
a MSc in Industrial Engineering, a 
MSc in Electrical Engineering and 
a PhD in Systems Engineering.  Dr 
Wang served on many Boards and 
Committees including Nanyang 
Polytechnic and the Singapore Trust 
Council.  He serves as Independent 
Director on the Boards of several 
publicly l isted companies such 
as ComfortDelGro Group, Cosco 
Singapore Corporate and others.  He 
was previously a Director of POSB 
Bank.  Dr Wang has been recognised 
for his work in Singapore.  He is a 
recipient of the prestigious “Friends 
of Labour” Award.

Mr. Oh Keng Lim, Executive Director.
Age: 69

Keng Lim joined the predecessor 
to Koon in 1976, when the sole 
proprietorship was preparing for, 
and just prior to, its conversion into a 
private partnership in 1977.  Before 
this Keng Lim was involved in several 
trading ventures.  Over the last 27 
years, Keng Lim has been involved in 
the project accounting, administration 
and risk controls of the Company.  He 
has since devolved many of his day-to-
day duties and now primarily serves in 
a supervisory and oversight capacity.   
He is the main contact person for, and 
oversees the Company’s interest in, 
Entire and Gems.  Keng Lim remains 
very familiar with all aspects of the 
Company’s business, particularly with 
the Company’s many suppliers.  

Oh Koon Sun, Executive Director. 
Age: 60

Koon Sun and the late Mr. Aw Joo 
Kim (his father) co-founded the 
predecessor to the Company in 
1975.  The predecessor was a sole 
proprietorship involved in the business 
of transporting stone and rocks.  
Koon Sun was in charge of that 
sole proprietorship, namely as a 
sub-contractor for Obayashi on the 
East Coast V reclamation.  Prior to 
founding the sole proprietorship, 
Koon Sun was involved in the family’s 
trading business. His extensive 
hands-on experience in trading and 
deep familiarity of local business, 
benefits Koon, as his principal task 
at the Company is the negotiation of 
quantity, quality and price of stone, 
rock, equipment, tug & barges, with 
select sub-contractors and for the 
sourcing of consumables.  Koon Sun 
is also the main contact point for 
Koon-Zinkcon. 
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Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders (also 
known as Glenda Sorrell), Non-Executive 
and Independent Director. Member of the 
Audit, Compensation and Nominating 
Committees.  Age: 51

Glenda is the Managing Director of 
Matrix Management Pty Ltd, a Project 
Management and Quantity Surveying 
firm with operations in Victoria and 
Tasmania.  Matrix Management was 
a nominee for the Tasmanian 2002 
Project Manager of the Year award 
for its work for the University of 
Tasmania. Prior to co-founding Matrix 
Management, Glenda worked as a 
Director, or in an equivalent position, 
with Rawlinson (Aust) Pty. Ltd. and with 
Schloss Ferrer (SA).  Glenda started 
her professional life with Farrow 
Laing (SA).  Glenda has considerable 
experience in major industrial and civil 
projects including: infrastructure work 
for Australia Post and Telstra;  Sasol’s 
oil from coal project; steel-processing 
plants; and on coal, diamond & gold 
mines.  Glenda has a BSc. (QS) 
from the University of Witwatersrand, 
SA and is the Tasmanian Division 
Councillor of the Property Council 
of Australia.  She is a member of 
the Australian Institute of Quantity 
Surveyors, a Registered QS (SA 
Council for Quantity Surveyors) and 
a member of MAQS (South African 
Association of Quantity Surveyors).
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Background of Directors & Key Management Staff

Christopher Chong Meng Tak, Non- 
Executive and Independent Director. 
Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
a member of the Compensation and 
Nominating Committees. Age: 49

Christopher is a partner of ACH 
Investments Pte Ltd., a specialist 
corporate advisory firm in Singapore 
and is an Associate of Shadforths 
Limited, a leading brokerage and 
f inancial  planner in Tasmania, 
Australia. Prior to co-founding ACH 
Investments Pte Ltd, Christopher was 
a multi-award winning analyst and the 
Managing Director of HSBC James 
Capel Securities (Singapore) Pte 
Ltd (now known as HSBC Securities 
(Singapore) Pte Ltd), a member of the 
HongkongBank Group of companies. 
In addition, Christopher is a Director of 
several public companies listed on the 
Australian, Singapore and Luxembourg 
Stock Exchanges. Christopher is also a 
Director and/or adviser to many private 
companies, to many Asian families and 
the judicial branch of the Singapore 
Government. Christopher has a BSc. 
(Econs), an MBA, is a member of the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Scotland (having trained with Ernest 
& Young in the UK), a Fellow of the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, Fellow of the Singapore 
Institute of Directors, a Fellow of 
the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a Master Stockbroker of 
the Securities & Derivatives Industry 
Association of Australia.  
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General Manager
Albert Chin
Age: 56

HR Department
HRM: Juslene Aw
Age: 35

Executive Director
Oh Koon Sun
Age: 60

Executive Director
Oh Keng Lim
Age: 69

Gems Marine
Mgr: In Way Chung
Age: 50

Entire Engineering
Mgr: Or Ah Seng
Age: 47

Tender & Contracts
TCM: Chui Siew Sing
Age: 40

Projects

OM: Lim Et Seng
Age: 51

STM: Mok Chin Ket
Age: 56

SPM: Koh Seng Hock
Age: 46

SPM: Ang Sim Ai, Eric
Age: 51

Non-Executive Chairman 
and Independent Director
Dr Wang Kai Yuen
Age: 60

Koon Holdings Limited

Financial Controller
Lee Yu Leung
Age: 36

KOON CONSTRuCTION & TRaNSPORT CO PTE LTD

Structure as at 24 March 2008
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Report of the Directors

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial 
statements of the Group and balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of 
the Company for the financial year ended December 31, 2007.

1 DIRECTORS

 The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

 Dr Wang Kai Yuen 
 Oh Keng Lim
 Oh Koon Sun
 Christopher Chong Meng Tak
 Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders
 
 Chua Liong King resigned as a director of the Company on April 24, 2007

2 aRRaNGEMENTS TO ENaBLE DIRECTORS TO aCQuIRE BENEFITS
 BY MEaNS OF THE aCQuISITION OF SHaRES aND DEBENTuRES

 Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial 
year did there subsist any arrangement whose object is to enable the 
directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.

3 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHaRES aND DEBENTuRES

 The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year 
had no interests in the share capital and debentures of the Company and 
related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings 
kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act 
except as follows:
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  Shareholdings in which
 Shareholdings registered directors are deemed
     in name of director         to have an interest    
 Name of directors and companies At beginning At end At beginning At end
 in which interests are held     of year     of year     of year     of year

 Koon Holdings Limited
 (Ordinary shares)

 Oh Keng Lim 4,999,998 4,999,998 -        -
 Oh Koon Sun 3,528,689 3,528,689 -        -

 By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Mr Oh Keng Lim and Mr Oh Koon Sun are deemed to 
have an interest in all the ordinary shares of the Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries.

 The directors’ interests in shares and options of the Company at January 21, 2008 were the same at December 
31, 2007.

4 DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT aND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRaCTuaL BENEFITS

 Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is 
required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by 
the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a Company 
in which he has a substantial financial interest except as disclosed in the financial statements.  Certain directors 
received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/or executives of those related 
corporations.

5 SHaRE OPTIONS

 (a) Options to take up unissued shares

  The Employee Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”) in respect of unissued ordinary shares in the Company 
was approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on April 16, 
2003.  The summary of the ESOS is described below.

  The ESOS is administered by the Compensation Committee whose members are:

  Dr Wang Kai Yuen - Chairman
  Christopher Chong Meng Tak
  Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders

  Participants - (i) Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and employees of the Company (“Company 
employees”) and (ii) Executive Directors and employees of any associated company of a company over 
which the Company has control (“Associated Companies”).
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  ESOS size - The aggregate number of options on any date will not exceed 15% of 
the issued shares of the Company.

  Maximum entitlement - No participants will be granted options in excess of 10% the 
shares available under the ESOS.  The total number of options to be granted by the 
Compensation Committee in any one financial year will not exceed 40% of the total 
number of shares available under the ESOS.

  Options, exercise period and exercise price - Options that are granted may be at 
the market price (“Market Price Options”) or at a discount to the market price of 
a share, provided that the shareholders of the Company in general meeting has 
authorise the making of offers and grant of options under the ESOS at a discount.  In 
the event that options are issued at a discount, such options may be exercised only 
after the 2nd anniversary date from the date of the granting of the option (“Incentive 
Options”).  Market Price Options will vest over five years from the first anniversary 
date from the date of the grant.  Incentive Options will vest over four years after the 
second anniversary date from the date of the grant.  All options must be exercised 
prior to the sixth anniversary of the relevant offer date.

  Grant of options - Under the rules of the ESOS, there are no fixed period for grant 
of options. As such, offers of the grant of options may be made at any time and 
from time to time at the discretion of the Compensation Committee.  However, 
no option will be granted during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the 
date of announcement of the Company’s interim or final results (whichever the 
case may be). In addition, in the event that an announcement on any matter of an 
exceptional nature involving unpublished price sensitive information is imminent, 
offers may only be made after the third trading day from the date on which the 
aforesaid announcement is released.

  Termination of options - Special provisions in the rules of the ESOS deal with the 
lapse or earlier exercise of options in circumstances which include the termination 
of the participant’s employment in the Company, or associated company (as the 
case may be); bankruptcy of the participants, the death of the participant; take over 
of the Company; and the winding up of the company.

  Acceptance of options - Offers of options made to grantee, if not accepted by the 
grantee within 30 days from the date of offer, will lapse.  Upon acceptance of the 
offer, the grantee must pay the Company a consideration of $1.00.

  Rights of shares arising - Shares arising from the exercise of options are subject 
to the provisions of the Constitution of the Company.  The shares so allotted will 
upon issue rank pari passu in all respect with the existing issued shares, and 
will rank in full for all entitlements, including any dividend, or other distributions 
declared or recommended in respect of the then existing shares, the record date 
(“Record Date”) for which falls on or before the relevant exercise date of the option. 
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Record Date means the date as at the close of business on which 
the shareholders must be registered in order to participate in any 
dividend, rights, allotments or other distribution.

  Duration of the ESOS - The ESOS will continue in operation for a 
maximum of 10 years commencing on the date on which the ESOS 
is adopted by the Company in General Meeting, provided always 
that the ESOS may continue beyond the above stipulated period 
with the approval of shareholders by ordinary resolution in General 
Meeting and of any relevant authorities which may be required.

Since the date of the inception, no options were issued pursuant to 
the ESOS.

During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company 
or any corporation in the Group issued at a discount to the market 
price.  There were no options granted to controlling shareholders 
and their associate.

No employee or employee of related corporations has received 
options during the financial year.

 (b) During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or 
any corporation in the Group issued by virtue of the exercise of an 
option to take up unissued shares.

 (c) At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the 
Company or any corporations in the Group under option.

6 auDIT COMMITTEE

 The Audit Committee of the Company is chaired by Christopher Chong Meng 
Tak, an independent director, and includes Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders 
and Dr Wang Kai Yuen, both independent and non-executive directors.  The 
Audit Committee has met 3 times since the last Annual General Meeting 
(“AGM”) and has reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive 
directors and external auditors of the Company:

a) the audit plans of the external auditors;

b) the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

c) the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group before their submission to the 
directors of the Company and the external auditors’ report on those 
financial statements;
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d) the half-yearly and annual announcements 
as well as the related press release on the 
results and financial position of the Company 
and the Group;

e) the co-operation and assistance given by 
the management to the Group’s external 
auditors; and 

f) the re-appointment of the external auditors 
of the Group.

 The Audit Committee has full access to and has 
the co-operation of the management and has been 
given the resources required for it to discharge 
its functions properly.  It also has full discretion to 
invite any director and executive officer to attend its 
meetings.  The external auditors have unrestricted 
access to the Audit Committee.

 The Audit Committee has recommended to the 
directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche for 
re-appointment as external auditors of the Group 
at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

7 auDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche, have expressed 
their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHaLF OF THE DIRECTORS

Oh Koon Sun

Oh Keng Lim

February 28, 2008
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Statement of Corporate Governance

18

The Board of Directors is committed to ensuring good 
corporate governance practices.

Functions and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the 
strategic direction of the Group and for overseeing and 
monitoring the Group’s businesses and affairs. The 
Directors are accountable to the shareholders for the 
Group’s performance. Day-to-day management of the 
Group’s affairs and the implementation of its strategy 
are delegated to the Executive Directors and senior 
executives.

The principal functions of the Board include:
•	 Setting the corporate strategy and direction of the Group, including but not 

limited to approval of broad policies, strategies and financial objectives of the 
Group.

•	 Monitoring the implementation of the strategy, the business performance and 
the results and ensuring appropriate resources are available.

•	 Approving financial plans and key management recommendations.
•	 Appointing the Executive Directors and other key personnel and reviewing 

their performance.
•	 Identifying and reviewing of risk and the establishment of monitoring and 

feedback systems with respect to risk management, internal controls, financial 
reporting and compliance.

•	 Overseeing the management of occupational health & safety and environmental 
performance.

Board’s Composition and Balance

The Board comprises five Directors, three of whom are non-executive, independent 
directors. In view of the scope and nature of the operations of the Group, the 
Board and the Nominating Committee are of the view that there is no individual or 
small group of individuals dominating the Board’s decision-making process and 
the Board’s current size is appropriate for facilitating effective decision-making. 

The Board comprises business leaders and professionals with industry and 
financial backgrounds. Its composition enables the management to benefit from a 
diverse and objective external perspective on the issues raised before the Board.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer / Managing Director

The roles of Chairman and Managing Director, who is the Chief Executive Officer, 
are separated. The separation of roles is to ensure that the working of the Board 
and the executive responsibility of the Group’s business are kept distinct, increasing 
the accountability and capacity of the Board for independent decision-making. The 
position of Group Chief Executive Officer is currently vacant and the Group is in 
the process of identifying a suitable candidate for such position. The Group’s day-
to-day operations are currently overseen by the two Executive Directors, Mr. Oh 
Keng Lim and Mr. Oh Koon Sun.

The Chairman is responsible for scheduling meetings to enable the Board to 
discharge its duties. The Chairman, with the assistance of the Management, and 
the Executive Directors shall prepare the agenda and other materials for such 
meeting and that the information shall be of such quality, quantity and speed that 
enables the Board to make informed decisions.  The Executive Directors shall 
be responsible for ensuring compliance with the Group’s guidelines on corporate 
governance.

Board Membership

The Nominating Committee shall, from time to time, make recommendations 
on the number and composition of the Board of Directors, subject always to the 
conditions set out in the Company’s Articles and Memorandum of Association.  

The Nominating Committee currently comprises three members, all of whom 
are independent. It is chaired by Dr. Wang Kai Yuen and has as its members, Mr 
Christopher Chong Meng Tak and Ms Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders. 

The Nominating Committee is responsible for:

•	 Monitoring the contribution and performance of the Directors and the Board. 
•	 Deciding how the Directors are enhancing long-term shareholder value. 
•	 Re-nominating and/or proposing new Directors.

At each Annual General Meeting, at least one-third of the Directors will retire from 
their office by rotation.  The General Meeting may re-elect the retiring director or 
some other person eligible for appointment. 
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Board Performance

The Nominating Committee, in considering the re-
appointment of a Director, must evaluate the Director’s 
contribution and performance, such as his or her attendance 
at meetings of the Board or Board Committees, and also 
his or her participation, candour and other contributions.

The Nominating Committee shall assess the Board’s 
performance taking into consideration quantitative and 
qualitative criteria such as the success of the strategic 
and long-term objectives set by the Board.

access to information

All Directors have separate, independent and unrestricted 
access to all levels of senior executives in the Group and 
the Company Secretary.  All Directors are continuously 
updated by management on the developments within 
the Group so that they are equipped to participate fully 
at Board Meetings. Board papers are prepared for each 
Board and Committee meeting and include information 
from the management on the financial, business and 
corporate issues to enable the Directors to properly 
assess the Group’s performance.  Directors may also seek 
independent professional advice at the Group’s expense 
in order to discharge their duties.

Hence, the Board is of opinion that, under the present 
arrangement, information provided to the Board is 
sufficient and timely for it to perform its duties effectively.

remuneration

The Compensation Committee comprises three members, 
all of whom are Independent Directors. The Compensation 
Committee is chaired by Mr Christopher Chong Meng 
Tak and has as its members, Dr. Wang Kai Yuen and Ms 
Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders.

The Compensation Committee is responsible for:

•	 Recommending to the Board the framework of 
remuneration, including benefits in kind for the 
Directors, senior managers, managers and other key 
and significant staff. 

•	 Reviewing proposed annual pay rises. 
•	 Managing and recommending to the Board the number 

of options, if any, to be issued under the ESOS.

The Group’s compensation policy is to provide 
compensation packages appropriate to attract, retain and 
motivate the Executive Directors and senior executives 
required to run the Group successfully. The Company has 
in place service contracts for each of its Executive Directors 
which set out the framework of their remuneration. The 
Compensation Committee will, upon the expiry of such 
service contracts, recommend to the Board a framework 
for the remuneration of such Executive Directors.

Currently, the Company has in place an ESOS, but 
no options have been granted under the scheme.  The 
remuneration bands of the Directors for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2007 are:

Remuneration Bands Salary Bonus Fees Other benefits Total 
% % % % % 

S$ 250,000 to S$499,999 
Chua Liong King * 77 23 - - 100
Below S$250,000 
Oh Keng Lim 77 23 - - 100
Oh Koon Sun 77 23 - - 100
Christopher Chong Meng Tak - - 100 - 100
Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders - - 100 - 100
Dr. Wang Kai Yuen - - 100 - 100

Note:  *Resigned from Koon Holdings w.e.f 24th April 2007.
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accountability

The Board recognises its responsibility to provide shareholders with a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance, position and prospects 
on a regular basis. Further, the Board has adopted the practice of communicating 
major developments in its business and operations to shareholders, the ASX and 
SGX, employees and other stakeholders. 

audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, all of whom are Independent 
Directors. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr Christopher Chong Meng Tak and 
has as its members Ms Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders and Dr. Wang Kai Yuen.  
The Audit Committee shall review and approve the following:

a) The audit plans and results of the external auditors’ examination and evaluation 
of the Group’s systems of the internal accounting controls.

b) The Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies.
c) The financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial 

statements of the Group before their submission to the Directors and the external 
auditors’ report on those financial statements.

d) The half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press release 
on the results and financial position of the Company and the Group.

e) The co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s 
external auditors.

f) The re-appointment of the external auditors of the Group.

The Audit Committee has full access to and co-operation of the management and 
has been given the resources required for it to discharge its functions properly.  It may 
also invite any Director and Executive Officer to attend its meetings.  The external 
auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Chairman and the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has undertaken the review of all non-audit services provided 
by the auditors amounting to S$41,000 and confirmed that they would not, in the 
Audit Committee’s opinion, affect the independence of the auditors.

recognising and Managing risks

The management is responsible for identifying and managing risks. The Board is 
responsible for satisfying itself that a sound system of risk oversight and management 
exists and that internal controls are effective.  In addition to maintaining appropriate 
insurance and other risk management measures, identified risks are managed 
through:
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Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee Meetings
The following table sets out the Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee meetings held in FY2007.

•	 Established policies and procedures for the 
management of funding and financial instruments.

•	 Standards and procedures in relation to environmental 
and health and safety matters.

•	 Training programmes in relation to legal and compliance 
issues.

•	 Procedures requiring significant capital and revenue 
expenditure and other contractual commitments are 
approved at an appropriate level or by the Board.

•	 Risk management systems and policies that govern 
the management of risk.

The internal audit function as part of its activities monitors 
the management’s actions to manage risk. The external 
and internal audit functions are separate and independent 
of each other.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board is mindful of its obligations to provide timely 
disclosure of material information to shareholders and does 
so through the Annual Report, results announcements, its 
newsletter and other announcements on developments 
within the Group or in relation to disclosures required by 
the stock markets.

The Board regards the AGM as an opportunity to 
communicate directly with shareholders and encourages 
greater shareholder participation. The Chairman and other 
directors attend the AGM and are available to answer 
questions from shareholders at the AGM. The external 
auditors are also present to assist Directors in addressing 
any relevant queries from shareholders.

interested Person Transactions

There were no material contracts entered into by the 
Group involving the interest of the substantial shareholder 
or Director, which are either subsisting at the end of the 
financial year or, if not then subsisting, entered into since 
the end of the previous financial year.

Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee 
Meetings

The following table sets out the Directors’ attendance at 
Board and Committee meetings held in FY2007.

Name  Board audit –Members Nominating Compensation

No. of 
meetings 

held 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

No. of 
meetings 

held 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

No. of 
meetings 

held 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

No. of 
meetings 

held 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

Oh Keng Lim 8 7 3 3* 1 1* 2 2* 

Oh Koon Sun 8 8 3 3* 1 1* 2 2* 

Christopher Chong 8 8 3 3 1 1 2 2 

Dr Wang Kai Yuen 8 8 3 3 1 1 2 2 

Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders 8 8 3 3 1 1 2 2 

Note: * Attended as an invitee to meeting
 This table does not include directors who have resigned during the year
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Movement in Total Contracts awarded:
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Movement in Public Sector Contracts awarded:
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On a year-on-year basis, Public Contracts awarded during the first quarter of 2007 
had declined, reversing from the improvement during the last quarter of the previous 
year 2006. The following three quarters in 2007 showed improvement, with each 
consecutive quarter showing better results than the previous quarter, thus indicating 
recovery and better times for the industry. 
 
Contracts Awarded: year-on-year growth* 

Contracts 
Awarded

2006 2007

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Total -31.2% 83.3% 162.7% 36.9% 31.5% 103.9% -23.3% 127.8%

Public 
Contracts

-30.7% 37.0% 3.7% 4.1% -16.3% 68.8% 98.4.% 79.9%

*Source: Economic Survey of Singapore 2007
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Historical revenue Trend (S$)

160,000

140,000

120,000

100,000

80,000

60,000

40,000

20,000

0

R
ev

en
u

e 
(i

n
 M

ill
io

n
s)

Year

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007

* FY 2002 was prepared on pro-forma basis based on audited financial statements

Breakdown of revenues by Contract Type (S$ million)

110,317 105,161 103,127
110,869

2006 (In Millions)
Reclamation & 
Shore Protection
13.2%

Roads, rail, 
bridges, piling 

and others
74.3%

Water & sewerage 
treatment and 
power station
7.6%

Development 
Properties
4.9%

142,415

2007 (In Millions) Reclamation & Shore Protection
0.4%

Roads, rail, 
bridges, piling 

and others
59.6%

Water & sewerage 
treatment and 
power station
40.0%

Our improvement in revenues of 31% as compared to 2006, is in large part attributed to the increase in the number of 
projects awarded and to dividends which had been distributed to us by our 50% owned investment Koon-Zinkcon (KZ).    
Our rate of increase in revenue for the year as a whole was better than the general industry recovery rate of 20.3%. 

Sources of revenue

reclamation and Shore Protect ion 
activities

Traditionally, our revenues are primarily derived from 
two main sources of activities: reclamation and shore 
protection; and civil engineering.  

Reclamation and shore protection work comprises 
of all activities required to reclaim land from the 
sea and protect the shoreline of reclaimed areas.  
Civil engineering work can be divided into two parts 
namely: work that includes significant building and 
installation work such power plants; sewage plants 
and water works, and work that does not include 
significant building and installation work such as road; 
bridges and other incident work.
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Revenue from reclamation work had decreased compared to the previous year, and 
is far behind what we have been able to achieve in the past, had it not been due to 
the inability to source adequate supplies of marine sand. The industry’s inability to 
source marine sand at reasonable prices started at the beginning of last year. It is 
difficult to forecast when adequate supplies of marine sand will resume.

Inadequate supplies of marine sand, being the crucial raw material in reclamation 
projects, has hindered significant works from being resumed or completed. As a 
result,  the Government’s blueprint for the expansion of the island has also had to 
be deferred.

To date, a significant amount of reclamation projects at both Koon-Zinkcon and 
within the Group itself remains outstanding, which would resume once  adequate 
supplies of marine sand becomes available.  

Civil Engineering activities

Revenue from civil engineering activities declined compared to 2006. This has 
allowed us to redeploy some resources to projects in other segments.  The major 
projects that contributed to the revenue pool from this segment during the year were: 
Jurong Port; Changi Airshow; BCA Industries Park; Jurong Island Meranti; Changi 
C88; PUB Joan Road; HDB Selatar and Gul Road.

As the Group’s accounting policy do not allow us to book revenues or profits from 
new projects until at least 20% of such projects are completed, new projects which 
had been awarded during the year were not booked unless they had attained the 
litigable percent of completion to qualify for revenue recognition.

Other activities

other Activities include wet and dry leasing of marine equipment; the leasing of 
construction equipment; office rental and interest.  Most of the marine vessels 
and the equipment hired out are to the Group’s projects, and such revenues are 
eliminated on consolidation.  We maintain most of our equipment separate from 
our operating business for both tax and operational discipline purposes.  

Water & sewage treatment and power stations

Revenue from this segment was derived mainly from our puB pandan 1 project.
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(Source: Economic Survey of Singapore)
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Development Properties

As no development project had been undertaken during the year, no revenues were derived from this segment. As the 
turnkey development project which we had started in 2005 and successfully completed in 2006 was a new segment 
venture for us, we remain cautious and selective of our activities in this segment as we continue to seek prospective 
projects to undertake. 

Outlook for the coming year

the Singapore Government has forecasted a GDp growth range of 4% to 6% for 2008.  Demand for public sector 
construction activities is likely to improve to between S$8.5 to S$10.6 billion (source: economic Survey of Singapore 
2007) 

Although the outlook for 2008 looks promising, the inability of Singapore to source marine sand at reasonable prices 
continues to be a cloud over our horizon. the Company has been trying to diversify its business and seeking new 
opportunities.  the Company is doubling it’s efforts to seek both diversified product and geographical opportunities 
during 2008.

We are, however, please to note that our orders on hand are about S$338.5 million.  this does not include prospective 
revenue from reclamation work which is still outstanding from Koon-Zinkcon (KZ).

Although competition in the industry remains keen, we remain confident of our  position in the market.  the relationships 
we have developed with our suppliers over the years provide us with a comparative advantage in terms of pricing and 
cost savings which we, in turn, transfer onto our clients.  nonetheless, international competitors may have an advantage 
over us in design-and-build projects.  new players in the industry may also tender jobs at losses or ‘purchase’ jobs 
in order to secure local market presence.  As we had previously mentioned, we would rather forgo projects with low 
tenders then run the risk of losses.
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Audited Financial Performance for the year ended 31 December (S$’000) 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 

Revenue 110,317 105,161 104,800 112,596 147,880 
Gross Operating Profit 4,914 5,952 4,114 1,020 7,359 
Investment Income after Tax 100 1 4,003 
Net Profit after Tax 1,655 1,522 86 (2,809) 6,176 

As a Percentage of Revenue 
Net Profit after Tax 1.5% 1.4% 0.1% -2.5% 4.2% 

Major Expenses 
Administrative Expenses Excluding Depreciation 4,264 4,210 4,819 4,836 5,829 
Depreciation 1,746 1,406 1,328 1,645 1,028 

Interest and Financing Cost 175 135 110 137 176 

MarGin anD COSTS

Gross Operating Margins

Although we had reported losses during our interim report, for the year as a whole, 
gross operating profits had increased compared to the previous year 2006. the 
increase was mainly attributed to the booking in of revenue and profits from two 
of our larger projects, which had began during the previous year 2006, but only 
could be recognized during the second half of the current year. In addition, the 
revenues and profits for some of our other medium and smaller sized projects had 

also contributed to the increase.
Gross operating margins remain a constant concern for us. Margins on projects 
in Singapore remain fine and thus any errors in tendering can have a noticeable 
effect on our financial performance. 

net Profit Margin

the net profit achieved in 2007 was a dramatic improvement over the losses 
reported in 2006.  As mentioned above, the recognition of revenues and profits 
from our larger projects had boosted our performance and led to the increase in 
gross profits. In addition, our 50% owned investment Koon-Zinkcon (KZ) was able 
to access limited supplies of marine sand, which enabled them to undertake more 
work compared to the last few years. this had enabled them to declare and make 
dividends to us of some S$4 million during the year. 
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Although there are signs of recovery for the civil engineering construction industry, weak gross margins continue to 
remain a universal concern.  It is a problem that will likely dissipate when demand for construction further improves, 
and particularly when award of reclamation contracts resume.  over the years we have enjoyed above industry margins 
on reclamation contracts.

FinanCiaL POSiTiOn

Balance Sheet

Financial Position as at 31 December (S$’000) 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 

Current assets 38,505 41,026 46,705 38,558 42,681 

Non-Current assets 11,978 10,145 9,849 10,680 14,894 

Total assets 50,483 51,171 56,554 49,238 57,575 

Current Liabilities 27,244 27,524 34,747 29,575 29,753 

Non-Current Liabilities 1,228 1,589 635 1,300 3,283 

Total Liabilities 28,472 29,113 35,382 30,875 33,036 

Shareholders’ Fund 22,011 22,058 21,172 18,363 24,539 

Total Liabilities and Equity 50,483 51,171 56,554 49,238 57,575 

Current assets to Current Liabilities 141% 149% 134% 130% 143% 

Total Debt to Total assets 7.5% 4.7% 9.5% 4.7% 7.4% 

Net Cash to Shareholders’ Funds* 31% 33% 5% 33% 23% 

Total Debt (Loans and Finance Leases) 3,784 2,380 5,345 2,306 4,239 

Net Cash (Total Cash less Total Debt)* 6,714 7,351 974 6,041 5,721 

Gross Profit on Total assets 9.7% 11.6% 7.3% 2.1% 12.8% 

Net Profit on Shareholders’ Funds 7.5% 6.9% 0.4% -15.3% 25.2% 

* Includes cash, cash equivalents and fixed deposits pledged 

the financial position of the Group has improved compared to the previous year. our level of liquidity has improved.  our 
current ratio now stands at 143%, but our net cash has decreased. However, this is primarily due to work performed 
near the end of the year which were not yet certified by or billable to our customers at year end. the financial position 
of the Group is considered healthy.
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Net Debt and Cashflow

Net Indebtedness of the Group 

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 
Short-term debts 2,137 0 3,109 0 0 
Current portion of 

Long-term debt 360 360 360 240 593 
Obligations under financial lease 230 608 1,372 897 784 

Total current debt 2,727 968 4,841 1,137 1,377 
Non-current portion of 

Long-term debt 960 600 240 0 1,323 
Obligations under financial lease 97 812 264 1,169 1,539 

Total non-current debt 1,057 1,412 504 1,169 2,862 
Total debt 3,784 2,380 5,345 2,306 4,239 

Cash and bank balance* 9,640 9,045 6,319 8,347 9,660 
Dividends receivable 2,258 1,658 0 0 0 
Dividends payable (1,400) (972) 0 0 0 
Total cash adjusted for dividends receivable/payable 10,498 9,731 6,319 8,347 9,660 
Net cash/(debt) 6,714 7,351 974 6,041 5,721 

* Includes cash, cash equivalents and fixed deposits pledged

From the balance sheet shown on page [ o/s based on page numbering of audited 
financial statements], you will note that:

a) trade Receivables have increased. this was mainly due to work performed / 
services rendered and billed towards the end of the year, which results in higher 
amounts of pending receivables. 

b) An increase  in Inventory.  this is largely due to two projects where large volumes 
of work has been performed, but not yet certified or billable to the customers 
at end year.
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Employees Shareholders

Suppliers Set aside for capital reinvestment

87.7%

4.4%

6.9%

Operating cashflow before funding working capital  3.61

Net cashflow used in operating activities (1.66)

Net operating cashflow after investing activities 0.59

Net operating cashflow after all activities 0.96

Cash at 31 December 2006 4.46

Cash at 31 December 2007 5.42 

(S$ million)

0.2%

Other capital providers Inland Revenue

0.1% 0.7%

Our debt levels remain modest and primarily comprise of 
loans taken for plant and equipment replacement / additions 
and leases on equipment. 

Our cashflow strengthened during the year.  We have spent 
about S$1.66 million in our operations, gained S$2.25 
million from investments and gained S$0.37 million in 
financing activities. 

STaTEMEnT FOr STaKEHOLDErS

All materials that were required for our project needs have 
been purchased by us, while labour requirements were 
outsourced to labour contractors. As such, about 87.7 cents 
per dollar of earnings have flowed to our suppliers.  

The chart below shows how the remaining earnings 
have been distributed amongst our stakeholders. Of the 
remaining 12.3 cents, our employees had received 6.9 
cents, and the banks and other providers of capital had 
received 0.1 cents in interest and capital repayments.  We 
reserved 0.7 cents for plant and equipment reinvestment 
(through depreciation charges), and the tax authorities had 
received 0.2 cents, with the remaining 4.4 cents retained 
for our shareholders.

Customers: Customer satisfaction remains one of our 
priorities.  “To Provide Quality Services and Products to 
our Clients and to Minimise Environmental Impacts and 
Health & Safety Hazards through Continual Reviews and 
Improvements of our Integrated Management System” is 
a stated QEHS (Quality, Environmental and Occupational 
Health & Safety) Policy statement. We have continued to 
perform annual surveys, and 2007 indicated continued high 
levels of customer satisfaction. 
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Suppliers & Sub-contractor: We have always maintained a close working 
relationship with suppliers and sub-contractors. Our promptness in paying has 
differentiated us from our competitors.  This practice has ensured that we continue 
to be provided with good service and prompt deliveries. Over the longer term, it is 
our intention and in our interest to nurture our sub-contractors.  As we grow, the 
goodwill from sub-contractors should translate into value-added services being 
provided to us at competitive prices. Such benefits will help strengthened our 
competitive edge in the industry.

Employees: We believe that quality and value adding is the key to our industry’s 
future, and have therefore continued emphasis on our Training Program. We 
constantly ensure that our employees are trained by external training centres and 
that they attend in-house programs.  We believe such training motivates staff, as  
they will feel more secure because of our investment in them. They get to perform a 
variety of duties which makes their job more challenging. Many of our staff had also 
benefited from our listing, as they were able to buy shares at a special price. 

Providers of debt capital: Having a close relationship with providers of capital is 
important in a volatile industry such as ours. Our main bankers are DBS and OCBC 
who have been good to us. Our bankers’ confidence in the company has remained 
high over the years.

Providers of equity capital: The construction industry as been volatile over the past 
few years, and it remains our constant aim to try to manage this volatility so as to 
provide as much return to shareholders as possible. While we have achieved this in 
the years prior to FY2005, the past few years have been extremely tough for us. 

Social Responsibility: It is our goal to be a model corporate citizen.   We intend 
to achieve this goal by being a prompt taxpayer; a value-added provider to our 
customers and society; and environmentally responsible by complying with the Rio 
Summit standards.

OUTLOOK anD PrOSPECTS

Singapore’s economic growth for 2008 is forecasted to be between 4% and 6%. 
Demand for public sector construction is likely to improve to between S$8.5 to 
S$10.6 billion (source: Economic Survey of Singapore 2007)

Nonetheless:

• Foreign competitors remain noteworthy contenders; and

• The issue on marine sand supply remains unresolved.
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Market share of Koon
(being public contracts won against public 
contracts awarded)
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The Group currently has projects on hand of some S$338.5 
million. However, the availability of marine sand supplies 
continues to remain uncertain, thereby preventing the 
resumption of our reclamation work. 

While there are indications of improvement and further future 
growth for the industry in the coming years, brought about 
by the development of the Integrated Resorts; the inaugural 
Youth Olympics in 2010 and related infrastructures, we 
remain conservative in our expectations and will be doubling 
our efforts in search of other business opportunities.

Matters Subsequent to Year end

Subsequent to the year end, several senior persons who 
have been with us for sometime have decided to retire.   
they include Mr. Chua liong King,  Mr. Kua ting Giap 
and Mr. ong Yow Seng, David.  We previously informed 
investors that Mr. Chua has had medical problems which 
thankfully have been resolved.  nevertheless he and Mr. 
Kua are presently past 60 of age and have decided they 
would like to retire to spend more time with their families.  
David’s father, one of our four major shareholders recently 
passed away.  David would like to take this ‘changing of 
the guards’ to pursue other goals.  All three persons have 
served the company well and for a long time.  We wish 
them and their families all the very best now and in the 
future.

As you know, it was agreed that Mr. Chua liong King 
should lighten his workload for health reasons and on 24 
April 2007, he retired as Ceo of the Group, but remained 
Managing Director of the main operating subsidiary 
KCtC.   

Mr. oh Koon Sun and Mr. oh Keng lim, the executive 
Directors of the Company have since Mr. Chua’s resignation 
taken charge of the day-to-day operations of the Group.

ON BEHaLF OF THE DIRECTORS

Oh Koon Sun

Oh Keng Lim
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Share price performance
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For almost the whole of 2007, the Group’s share price has been trending upwards. 
The likely reasons for the rise in our share price include:

a) Natural Market adjustment in reaction to our announcements made during the 
year,

b) Investor perception of a recovery in the local construction industry.

During the early and mid part of 2007, there were periods where the price of the 
Group’s shares had risen sharply. The rise during the early part of the year could 
have been due to our announcement of Merger and Acquisition activities which were 
being explored at that time. The rise in price during the mid of the year, could have 
been due to the general perceived recovery of the construction industry.

With the trading price at S$0.26 on 31 Dec 2007, our market capitalisation is 
some 14.18% below our net book value, excluding any goodwill and intangibles. 
Of significance is that each of our shares that are priced at S$0.26 is backed by 
S$0.067 in cash.
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Statistics of Shareholdings
as at 24 March 2008

Substantial Shareholders
(as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders as at 24 March 2008)

Name of Substantial Shareholder

Number of shares, each fully paid

Direct Interest % Indirect Interest
%

Ang Sin Liu 19,516,465  24.09 2,824,000 3.49

Samsu 8,000,000 9.88 - -

Oh Keng Lim 4,999,998 6.17 - -

DISTRIBuTION OF SHaREHOLDINGS

 NO. OF
SIZE OF SHaREHOLDINGS SHaREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHaRES %

1  -  1,000 9 1.91 8,190 0.01
1,001  -  5,000 33 7.02 126,899 0.16
5,001  -  10,000 166 35.32 1,630,700 2.01
10,001 - 100,000 194 41.28 6,824,999 8.43
100,001 AND ABOVE 68 14.47 72,409,212 89.39

TOTAL 470 100.00 81,000,000 100.00

TWENTY LaRGEST SHaREHOLDERS

NO. NaME NO. OF SHaRES %

1 ANG SIN LIU 19,516,465 24.09
2 SAMSU 8,000,000 9.88
3 OH KENG LIM 4,999,998 6.17
4 OH KOON SUN 3,528,689 4.36
5 OH LIAN LING 3,511,612 4.34
6 ONG PANG AIK 3,200,000 3.95
7 ONG LYE BENG 3,059,012 3.78
8 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 2,993,000 3.70
9 YEO SEE TEE 1,700,000 2.10
10 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 1,530,300 1.89
11 AW GIM KOON 1,400,612 1.73
12 AW KIM MENG 1,298,612 1.60
13 ONG SIEW  GEOK 1,150,000 1.42
14 KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE. LTD. 1,011,000 1.25
15 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 1,008,000 1.24
16 TEE SWEE KHENG 879,098 1.09
17 TEO GIM TONG OR KWAH BENG HUA 864,820 1.07
18 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 744,000 0.92
19 OH KOK HOO 520,612 0.64
20 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 500,000 0.62

 TOTaL 61,415,830 75.84

NUMBER OF HOLDERS HOLDINGS LESS THAN A MARKETABLE PARCEL OF SHARES : 10
(MARKETABLE OF PARCEL OF 1,852 SHARES) 
AGGREGATE NUMBER OF SHARES : 9,885
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We have audited the accompanying fi nancial statements of Koon Holdings Limited (the Company) and 
its subsidiaries (the Group) which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 
December 31, 2007, the profi t and loss statement, statement of changes in equity and cash fl ow statement 
of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and a 
summary of signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 40 to 81.

Directors’ Responsibility

The Company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these fi nancial 
statements in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act”) and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and 
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of fi nancial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the 
fi nancial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the fi nancial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independent Auditors’ Report
To the Members of Koon Holdings Limited
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of Koon Holdings Limited

Opinion

In our opinion,

(a)  the consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes 
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of 
the Group and of the Company as at December 31, 2007 and of the results, changes in equity and 
cash fl ows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date; and

(b)  the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those 
subsidiaries incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE
Certifi ed Public Accountants
Singapore

Aric Loh Siang Khee
Partner
Appointed on April 10, 2003

February 28, 2008
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Balance Sheets
December 31, 2007

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.

 Group Company
 Note 2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 5 5,423 4,463 162 267
Trade receivables 6 12,854 11,803 -     -     
Other receivables and prepayments 7 3,445 4,463    4,589   4,753
Contract work-in-progress 8 20,369 16,856 -         -     
Held for trading investments 9 90 473 -         -     
Available for sale investment 10      500      500      -         -  

Total current assets  42,681 38,558   4,751   5,020

Non-current assets
Pledged fi xed deposits 5 4,237 3,884 -     -     
Subsidiaries  11 -      -      16,006 16,006
Associate  12 *      *      -      -     
Property, plant and equipment 13 10,657  6,796         6       24

Total non-current assets  14,894 10,680 16,012 16,030

Total assets  57,575 49,238 20,763 21,050

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities
Current portion of long-term bank loan 14 593 240 -      -     
Trade payables  24,858 15,252 -      -
Other payables 15 3,123 1,236 210 143
Contract work-in-progress 8 366  11,925 -      -     
Income tax payable  29 25 -      -     
Current portion of fi nance leases 16      784      897     -          -

Total current liabilities  29,753 29,575      210      143

Non-current liabilities
Long-term bank loan 14 1,323 -      -      -     
Finance leases 16 1,539 1,169 -      -     
Deferred income tax 17      421      131    -         -     

Total non-current liabilities    3,283   1,300    -         -     

Capital and reserves
Share capital 18 6,660 6,660 6,660 6,660
Capital reserve 19 13,006 13,006 13,006 13,006
Accumulated profi ts (losses)    4,873  (1,303)      887   1,241

Total equity   24,539 18,363 20,553 20,907

Total liabilities and equity  57,575  49,238 20,763 21,050

 
* Amount less than $1,000.
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Consolidated Profi t and Loss Statement
Year ended December 31, 2007

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.

  Note 2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

Revenue 20 142,415 110,869

Cost of sales  (135,056) (109,849)

Gross profi t   7,359 1,020

Other operating income 21 5,465 1,727

Administrative expenses  (6,218) (5,393)

Other operating expenses       36 (26)

Finance costs 22      (176) (137)

Profi t (Loss) before income tax  6,466 (2,809)

Income tax 23         (290)      -     

Profi t (Loss) for the year attributable to shareholders 24    6,176   (2,809)

Earnings (Loss) per share (cents)

Basic/Diluted 25     7.62    (3.47)
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Statements of Changes in Equity
Year ended December 31, 2007

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.

 Share Share Capital Accumulated
 capital premium reserve (loss) profi ts  Total
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

Balance at January 1, 2006 4,050 2,610 13,006 1,506 21,172

Transfer from share premium account 2,610 (2,610) -      -     -     

Loss for the year    -        -        -        (2,809)  (2,809)

Balance at December 31, 2006 6,660    -     13,006 (1,303) 18,363

Profi t for the year     -         -         -      6,176   6,176

Balance at December 31, 2007  6,660     -     13,006  4,873 24,539

Company

Balance at January 1, 2006 4,050 2,610 13,006    559 20,225

Transfer from share premium account 2,610 (2,610) -      -     -     

Profi t for the year    -        -        -         682      682

Balance at December 31, 2006 6,660    -     13,006 1,241 20,907

Loss for the year      -          -          -       (354) (354)

Balance at December 31, 2007   6,660      -     13,006    887 20,553



43Koon Holdings Limited annual report 2007

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended December 31, 2007

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

Operating activities
 Profi t (Loss) before income tax 6,466 (2,809)
 Adjustments for:
  Allowance for doubtful trade receivables 29 106
  Allowance (Reversal of) for impairment loss in value of other investments 801 -    
  Depreciation expense 1,028 1,645
  Dividend income from other investment (4,003) -    
  Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (744) (1,195)
  Interest income (106) (158)
  Interest expense    176    137
  Reversal for impairment loss in value of held for trading investments    (36)    (19)

 Operating cash fl ows before movements in working capital 3,611 (2,293)

  Trade receivables (1,080) 4,918
  Other receivables and prepayments 882 1,336
  Contract work-in-progress (15,072) 4,835
  Trade payables 9,606 (6,292)
  Other payables  387 (15)
  Development property       -  3,745

 Cash (used in) generated from operations (1,666) 6,234

 Income tax paid       4   (126)

Net cash (used in) from operating activities (1,662)  6,108

Investing activities
 Reimbursement by promoter for held for trading investments -     80
 Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment 1,994 2,179
 Purchase of plant and equipment (Note A) (3,851) (1,214)
 Interest received 106 158
 Dividend received 4,003      -    

Net cash from investing activities 2,252   1,203

Financing activities
 Repayment of obligations under fi nance lease (2,277) (1,677)
 Increase (Decrease) in bank loans 1,676 (3,469)
 Interest paid (176) (137)
 Increase in pledged fi xed deposits    (353)   (139)
 Advance from investee 1,500    -    

Net cash from (used in) fi nancing activities    370 (5,422)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 960 1,889
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,463 2,574

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note B) 5,423   4,463



44

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Year ended December 31, 2007

See accompanying notes to fi nancial statements.

Note A - PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of $6,385,000
(2006 : $3,321,000) of which $2,534,000 (2006 : $2,107,000) was acquired under fi nance lease arrangements.  
Cash payment of $3,851,000 (2006 : $1,214,000) was made for the purchase of plant and equipment.

Note B - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS CONSIST OF:

   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances 5,423 3,040
Fixed deposits 4,237 5,307

  9,660 8,347
Less:  Pledged deposit shown as non-current asset (4,237) (3,884)

Total  5,423   4,463
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

1 GENERAL

  The Company (Registration No. 200303284M) is incorporated in the Republic of Singapore with 
its registered offi ce and principal place of business at 17B Pandan Road, Singapore 609269.  The 
Company is listed on the Australian Stock Exchange and on the Catalist (Non-Sponsored) of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.  The fi nancial statements are expressed in Singapore 
dollars.

 The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.

  The principal activities of the subsidiaries and associate are disclosed in Notes 11 and 12 to the 
fi nancial statements respectively.

  The consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group and balance sheet and statement of changes in 
equity of the Company for the fi nancial year ended December 31, 2007 were authorised for issue by 
the Board of Directors on February 28, 2008.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 a)  BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The fi nancial statements are prepared in accordance with the 
historical cost convention except as disclosed in accounting policies note below and are drawn 
up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial 
Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

   ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARD - In the current fi nancial year, the Group has 
adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant 
to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2007.  The 
adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result in changes to Group’s and 
Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the 
current or prior years except as disclosed below and in the notes to fi nancial statements.

   FRS 107 - Financial Instruments: Disclosures and amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements relating to capital disclosures

   The Group has adopted FRS 107 with effect from annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2007.  The new Standard has resulted in an expansion of the disclosures in these fi nancial 
statements regarding the Group’s fi nancial instruments.  The Group has also presented 
information regarding its objectives, policies and processes for managing capital (see Note 4) as 
required by the amendments to FRS 1 which are effective from annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2007.

   At the date of authorisation of these fi nancial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and 
amendments to FRSs that are relevant to the Group and the Company were issued but not 
effective:

  FRS 23  -  Borrowing Costs (Revised)
  FRS 108  - Operating Segments
  INT FRS 111 - FRS 102 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions
  INT FRS 112 - Service Concession Arrangements

   Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/
revised standards. 
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

   The directors anticipate that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to 
FRSs in future periods will not have a material impact on the fi nancial statements of the Group 
and the Company in the period of their initial adoption.

 b)  BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial 
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).  Control 
is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the fi nancial and operating policies 
of an entity so as to obtain benefi ts from its activities.

   On acquisition, the assets and liabilities of the relevant subsidiaries are measured at their 
fair values at the date of acquisition.  The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of 
during the year are included in the consolidated profi t and loss statement from the effective 
date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.  Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the fi nancial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting 
policies into line with those used by other members of the Group. 

  All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

   In the Company’s fi nancial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associates are carried 
at cost less any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in the profi t and 
loss statement.

 c)  BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - The accounting treatment adopted for subsidiaries acquired 
pursuant to the Restructuring Exercise is described in Note 19 to the fi nancial statements.  Other 
than the effect of the Restructuring Exercise, the acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using 
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, 
at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to 
the business combination.  The acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
that meet the conditions for recognition under FRS 103 Business Combinations are recognised 
at their fair values at the acquisition date, except for non-current assets (or disposal groups) 
that are classifi ed as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-Current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations, which are recognised and measured at fair value less 
costs to sell.

   Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost, being the 
excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of 
the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.  If, after reassessment, the 
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised immediately in 
the consolidated profi t and loss statement.

 d)  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are recognised on the 
Company’s balance sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Financial assets

Investments are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale 
of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the 
time-frame established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair value, net 
of transaction costs except for those fi nancial assets classifi ed as at fair value through profi t or 
loss which are initially measured at fair value.

Other fi nancial assets are classifi ed into the following specifi ed categories: fi nancial assets “at 
fair value through profi t or loss”, “held-to-maturity investments”, “available-for-sale” fi nancial 
assets and “trade and other receivables”.  The classifi cation depends on the nature and 
purpose of fi nancial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a fi nancial 
instrument and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period.  The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through 
the expected life of the fi nancial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period.  Income is 
recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those fi nancial 
instruments “at fair value through profi t or loss”.

Available-for-sale fi nancial assets

Certain shares held by the Group are classifi ed as being available for sale and are stated 
at fair value. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in the revaluation reserve with the 
exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective interest method and 
foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profi t 
and loss statement. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the revaluation reserve is included in 
profi t and loss statement for the period. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are 
recognised in profi t or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are classifi ed as at FVTPL where the fi nancial asset is either held for trading 
or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A fi nancial asset is classifi ed as held for trading if:

• it has been incurred principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

•  it is a part of an identifi ed portfolio of fi nancial instruments that the Company manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profi t-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

A fi nancial asset other than a fi nancial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL 
upon initial recognition if:

•  such designation eliminates or signifi cantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

•  the fi nancial asset forms part of a group of fi nancial assets or fi nancial liabilities or 
both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with the Company’s documented risk management or investment strategy, 
and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 
39 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement  permits the entire combined 
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant 
gain or loss recognised in profi t or loss.  The net gain or loss recognised in profi t or loss 
incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the fi nancial asset.  Fair value is determined 
in the manner described in Note 4 to the fi nancial statements.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables that have fi xed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market are classifi ed as “trade and other receivables”.  Trade and other receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment.  Interest 
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate method, except for short-term receivables 
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of fi nancial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profi t and loss statement, are assessed 
for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.  Financial assets are impaired where 
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the fi nancial asset, the estimated future cash fl ows of the investments have been 
impacted.  For fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
fl ows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the fi nancial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all 
fi nancial assets with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account.  When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited to profi t and loss statement.  Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account 
are recognised in profi t and loss statement.

With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the 
amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to 
an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed through profi t or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the 
investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost 
would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after 
an impairment loss, is recognised directly in equity.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and are subject to 
insignifi cant changes in fair value.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classifi cation as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Company are classifi ed according to 
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the defi nitions of a fi nancial 
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity investment is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 
Company after deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classifi ed as either fi nancial liabilities “at fair value through profi t or loss” 
or other fi nancial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss (FVTPL)

Financial liabilities are classifi ed as at FVTPL where the fi nancial liability is either held for 
trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A fi nancial liability is classifi ed as held for trading if:

• it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or

•  it is a part of an identifi ed portfolio of fi nancial instruments that the Company manages 
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profi t-taking; or

• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A fi nancial liability other than a fi nancial liability held for trading may be designated as at 
FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

•  such designation eliminates or signifi cantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

•  the fi nancial liability forms part of a group of fi nancial assets or fi nancial liabilities or 
both, which is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in 
accordance with the Company’s documented risk management or investment strategy, 
and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

•  it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 
39 Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined 
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profi t and loss 
statement.  The net gain or loss recognised in profi t or loss incorporates any interest paid on 
the fi nancial liability.  Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4 to the fi nancial 
statements.

Other fi nancial liabilities

Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method with 
interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured 
at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.  Any difference between the proceeds 
(net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over 
the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for borrowing 
costs (see below).

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their fair values and subsequently 
at the higher of the amount recognised as a provision and the amount initially recognised less 
cumulative amortisation in accordance with the revenue recognition policies described below.

e)  CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS - Where the outcome of a construction contract can be 
estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the contract activity at the balance sheet date, as measured by the proportion that contract costs 
incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs, except where this 
would not be representative of the stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and 
incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been agreed with the customer.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue 
is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.  
Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss 
is recognised as an expense immediately.

 f)  LEASES - Leases are classifi ed as fi nance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classifi ed 
as operating leases.

  The Group as lessor

   Amounts due from lessees under fi nance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of 
the Company’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods so as to refl ect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern 
in which use benefi t derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under fi nance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at 
the date of acquisition.  The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated 
balance sheet as a fi nance lease obligation.  Lease payments are apportioned between fi nance 
charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profi t and loss 
statement.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profi t and loss statement on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is 
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefi ts from the leased asset are 
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in 
the period in which they are incurred.

 g)  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Leasehold building for production, rental or 
administrative purposes, are carried at cost, less depreciation and any recognised impairment 
loss. Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in 
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.  Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis 
as other property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their intended use.

   Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

   Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than land and properties 
under construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the 
following bases:

  Leasehold building     - 7% 
  Plant and machinery    - 10% (2006 : 10% to 20%)
  Barges      - 6.7% (2006 : 14.3% to 20%)
  Tugboats      - 6.7% (2006 : 14.3% to 20%)
  Dump trucks      - 10% (2006 : 20%)
  Motor vehicles     - 10% (2006 : 20%)
  Offi ce equipment, furniture and fi ttings  - 10% to 33%

   During the fi nancial year, the Group revised the estimated useful lives of plant and equipment 
to better refl ect their economic useful lives.  This resulted in a decrease of $1,064,000 in 
depreciation expense for 2007.

   The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year 
end, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

  Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the fi nancial statements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

   Assets held under fi nance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same 
basis as owned assets or, where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

   The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset 
and is recognised in the profi t and loss statement.

 h)  GOODWILL - Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of 
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the subsidiary recognised at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

   For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units expected to benefi t from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating 
units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is 
allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to 
the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the 
unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

   On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination 
of the profi t or loss on disposal.

   The group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described under 
‘Associates’ below.

 i)  IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN GOODWILL - At 
each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any).  Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

   Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specifi c to the asset.

   If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profi t and loss 
statement.

   Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-
generating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that 
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in 
prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profi t and loss 
statement.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 j)  ASSOCIATES - An associate is an entity over which the Group has signifi cant infl uence and 
that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.  Signifi cant infl uence is the power to 
participate in the fi nancial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint 
control over those policies. The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated 
in these fi nancial statements using the equity method of accounting.

   The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these fi nancial statements 
using the equity method of accounting.  Under the equity method, investments in associates are 
carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual 
investments.  Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which 
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in 
the associate) are not recognised.

   Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifi able 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition 
is recognised as goodwill.  The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment 
and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment.  Any excess of the Group’s share of 
the net fair value of the identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of 
acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the consolidated profi t and loss 
statement.

   Where a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profi ts and losses are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate. 

 k)  PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the company will be required to settle 
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

   The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash fl ows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash fl ows.

   When some or all of the economic benefi ts required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

 l)  REVENUE RECOGNITION – Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other 
similar allowances. 

Long-term construction contracts

Revenue and profi ts from long-term construction contracts are recognised based on the 
percentage of completion as at the balance sheet date by reference to the proportion of cost 
incurred to date in relation to the estimated total costs for the respective contracts, provided 
that the work is at least 20% completed and the outcome can be reliably estimated.

Provision is made in full for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts in the year in which 
such losses are anticipated, regardless of the stage of completion of the contracts.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

Supply of services and personnel

Supply of services and personnel is recognised when services are rendered.

Supply of machinery and equipment

Supply of machinery and equipment is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.
 
Charter income

Charter income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the charter.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the 
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the fi nancial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Rental income

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive the payment have been 
established.

Development property

Revenue from development properties is recognised when the property is completed and the 
relevant occupation permit is issued by the Authorities or vacant possession is delivered to the 
purchasers, whichever is later. Payments received and receivable from the purchasers prior 
to revenue recognition are recorded as customers’ deposits and are deducted from property 
under development.

 m)  BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction 
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period 
of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until 
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment 
income earned on the temporary investment of specifi c borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

   All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profi t and loss statement in the period in which 
they are incurred.

 n)  RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plans 
are charged as an expense as they fall due.  Payments made to state-managed retirement 
benefi t schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to 
defi ned contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those 
arising in a defi ned contribution retirement benefi t plan.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 o)  EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised 
when they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave 
as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

 p)  INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred 
tax.

   The tax currently payable is based on taxable profi t for the year.  Taxable profi t differs from profi t 
as reported in the profi t and loss statement because it excludes items of income or expense 
that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or 
tax deductible.  The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by 
the balance sheet date.

   Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the fi nancial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profi t, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.  Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are 
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi ts will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised 
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a 
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the 
taxable profi t nor the accounting profi t.

   Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments 
in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is 
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

   The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi ts will be available 
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

   Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the 
liability is settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. Deferred tax is charged or credited 
to profi t or loss, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which 
case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by 
the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis.

   Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profi t or loss, except 
when they relate to items credited or debited directly to equity, in which case the tax is also 
recognised directly in equity, or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business 
combination. In the case of a business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in 
calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of 
the acquiree’s identifi able assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)

 q)  FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual fi nancial 
statements of each Group entity are measured and presented in the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).  The consolidated 
fi nancial statements of the Group and the balance sheet of the Company are presented in 
Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company, and the presentation 
currency for the consolidated fi nancial statements.

   In preparing the fi nancial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other 
than the entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the 
date of the transaction. At each balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.  Non-monetary 
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are 
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

   Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of 
monetary items are included in profi t and loss statement for the period.  Exchange differences 
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profi t or 
loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in 
respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity.  For such non-monetary 
items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in equity.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

  In the application of applying the group’s accounting policies which are described in Note 2 above, 
management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to 
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The directors are of the opinion that any 
instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a signifi cant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the fi nancial statements.

 Key sources of estimation uncertainty

  The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year, are discussed below:

 (a) Revenue from contract work-in-progress

   As described in Note 2 to the fi nancial statements, revenue and costs associated with a project 
are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion 
of a project activity at the balance sheet date, using engineers’ estimates. When it is probable 
that the total project costs will exceed the total project revenue, the expected loss is recognised 
as an expense immediately.  These computations are based on the presumption that the 
outcome of a project can be estimated reliably.

   Management has performed the cost studies, taking into account the costs to date and costs 
to complete each project.  Management has also reviewed the status of such projects and is 
satisfi ed that the estimates to complete are realistic, and the estimates of total project costs 
and sales proceeds indicate full project recovery.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
 KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)

 (b) Impairment in available for sale investments 

   Determining whether available for sale unquoted equity investments amounting to $500,000 
(2006 : $500,000) are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of those investments.  
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash-fl ows expected and 
an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash-fl ows.  
Management has evaluated the recoverability of those investments based on such estimates 
and is confi dent that the allowance for impairment, where necessary, is adequate.

 (c) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

   As described in Note 2(g), the Group reassesses the estimated useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period.  During the fi nancial year, the 
directors determined that the useful life of certain classes of assets should be revised to refl ect 
the economic life or expected usage to the Group.

   The carrying amount of plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 13 in the fi nancial 
statements.

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS
 AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

  The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of fi nancial risks, including the effects of: changes 
in debt and equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group 
does not use derivative fi nancial instruments such as foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge 
certain exposures. The Group does not hold or issue derivative fi nancial instruments for speculative 
purposes.

 (a) Categories of fi nancial instruments

  The following table sets out the fi nancial instruments as at the balance sheet date:

 Group Company
  2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  Financial assets
 
  Fair value through profi t or loss (FVTPL):
     Held for trading 90 473 -     -    
  Loans and receivables (including cash 
     and cash equivalents) 25,959 24,613 4,751 5,020
  Available-for-sale fi nancial assets      500     500    -         -    

   26,549 25,586 4,751 5,020

  Financial liabilities

  Amortised cost 32,220 18,794    210    143
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS (Cont’d)
 AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives

   The Group has documented fi nancial risk management policies. These policies set out the 
Group’s overall business strategies and its risk management philosophy. The Group’s overall 
fi nancial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of fi nancial 
performance of the Group. The Board of Directors provide written principles for overall fi nancial 
risk management and written policies covering specifi c areas, such as market risk (including 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, equity price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, cash fl ow 
interest rate risk, use of derivative fi nancial instruments and investing excess cash. 

   Such written policies are reviewed annually by the Board of Directors and periodic reviews are 
undertaken to ensure that the Group’s policy guidelines are complied with. Risk management 
is carried out by the management under the policies approved by the Board of Directors.

   The Group does not use any derivative fi nancial instruments to manage its exposure to interest 
rate and foreign currency risk.

   There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these fi nancial risks or the manner in 
which it manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity 
analysis indicated below.

  i) Foreign exchange risk management

    The Group’s activities are mainly conducted in Singapore dollars.  Hence, the Group’s 
exposure to foreign exchange risk is minimal.

  (ii) Interest rate risk management

    Interest bearing fi nancial assets are mainly bank balances and fi xed deposit which are 
short-term in nature.  The interest rates for fi nance leases are fi xed on the date of 
inception, any variation in the short-term interest rates will not have a material impact 
on the results of the Group.

    The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its bank loans, which varies accordingly to 
prime leading rate.  The directors are of the view that any variation of the prime lending 
rate is not likely to have a material impact on the results of the Group.  Accordingly, the 
Group does not hedge against interest rate risk relating to its bank loans.

  (iii) Equity price risk management

    The Group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity investments classifi ed as held-
for-trading and available-for-sale. Available-for-sale equity investments are held for 
strategic rather than trading purposes. The Group does not actively trade available for 
sale investments.

    Further details of these equity investments can be found in Notes 9 and 10 to the 
fi nancial statements.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS (Cont’d)
 AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  (iii) Equity price risk management (Cont’d)

   Equity price sensitivity

    The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity 
price risks at the reporting date.

    The available-for-sale equity investments are unquoted and sensitivity details have not 
been presented due to non-availability of reliable valuation model.

    In respect of held-for-trading equity investments, the directors are of the view that any 
variation of the equity prices will not have a signifi cant impact on the results of the 
Group.

  (iv) Credit risk management

    Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in fi nancial loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing 
with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining suffi cient collateral where appropriate, as 
a means of mitigating the risk of fi nancial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and 
the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate 
value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit 
exposure is controlled by the counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the 
management annually.

    Concentration of credit risk exists when economic, industry or geographical factors 
similarly affect Group counter parties whose aggregate credit exposure is signifi cant in 
relation to the Group’s total credit exposure.

    The Group has signifi cant concentration of credit risk in that the top 5 debtors accounted 
for $9,825,000 (2006 : $8,764,000) or 76% (2006 : 75%) of the gross trade receivables 
balance at year end.

    The carrying amount of fi nancial assets recorded in the fi nancial statements, grossed 
up for any allowances for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

    Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 6 
and 7 to the fi nancial statements respectively.

  (v) Liquidity risk management

    The Group maintains suffi cient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated 
cash fl ows to fi nance their activities. The management fi nances their liquidity through 
internally generated cash fl ows and minimises liquidity risk by keeping committed credit 
lines available. 
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS (Cont’d)
 AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  (v) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

   Liquidity and interest risk analyses

   Non-derivative fi nancial liabilities

    The following tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative fi nancial 
liabilities.  The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash fl ows of 
fi nancial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group and Company can be 
required to pay.  The table includes both interest and principal cash fl ows. The adjustment 
column represents the possible future cash fl ows attributable to the instrument included 
in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the fi nancial 
liability on the balance sheet.

    Weighted On
    average demand Within
    effective or within 2 to After
    interest rate   1 year   5 years 5 years Adjustment Total
    % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

   Group
   
   2007

   Non-interest bearing - 27,981 -    -    -    27,981
   Finance lease liability
       (fi xed rate) 2.97 887 1,680 -    (244) 2,323
   Variable interest
      rate instruments 3.74      663 1,405    -    (152)   1,916

     29,531 3,085    -    (396) 32,220

 
   2006

   Non-interest bearing - 16,488 -    -    -    16,488
   Finance lease liability
       (fi xed rate) 3.29 996 1,216 -    (146) 2,066
   Variable interest
      rate instruments 3.63      245     -       -    (5)     240

     17,729 1,216    -    (151) 18,794
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS (Cont’d)
 AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  (v) Liquidity risk management (Cont’d)

    Weighted On
    average demand Within
    effective or within 2 to After
    interest rate   1 year   5 years 5 years Adjustment Total
    % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

   Company
   
   2007

   Non-interest bearing -     210     -        -        -       210

   2006

   Non-interest bearing -     143     -        -        -       143

   Non-derivative fi nancial assets

   Group
   
   2007

   Non-interest bearing - 21,722 -    -    -    21,722
   Fixed deposits
       (fi xed rate) 1.98   4,321     -        -    (84)   4,237

     26,043     -        -    (84) 25,959

   2006

   Non-interest bearing - 19,306 -    -    - 19,306
   Fixed deposits
       (fi xed rate) 2.58   5,444     -        -    (137)   5,307

     24,750     -        -    (137) 24,613

    The Company’s non-derivative fi nancial assets of $4,751,000 (2006 : $5,020,000) are 
due on demand, and non-interest bearing.
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS (Cont’d)
 AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives (Cont’d)

  (vi) Fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities

    The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables 
and payables, provisions and other liabilities approximate their respective fair values 
due to the relatively short-term maturity of these fi nancial instruments. The fair values of 
other classes of fi nancial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to 
fi nancial statements.

   The fair values of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities are determined as follows:

   •  the fair value of fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities with standard terms and 
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to 
quoted market prices; and 

   •  the fair value of other fi nancial assets and fi nancial liabilities (excluding derivative 
instruments) are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing 
models based on discounted cash fl ow analysis.

    The directors consider that the carrying amounts of fi nancial assets and fi nancial 
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the fi nancial statements approximate their fair 
values.

 (c) Capital risk management policies and objectives

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as 
a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the 
debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed 
in Notes 14 and 16 to the fi nancial statements, cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in 
Note 5 and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising share capital and 
reserves as disclosed in Notes 18 to 19 to the fi nancial statements and retained earnings. 
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5 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

 Group Company
  2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Cash at bank and on hand 5,423   3,040 162  267
 Fixed deposits 4,237 5,307   -     -  

   9,660 8,347 162 267

 Less: Pledged deposit shown as
  non-current asset (4,237) (3,884)   -     -  

 Total  5,423 4,463 162 267

 a)  Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less.  The carrying amounts of these assets approximate 
their fair values.

 b)  The Group has certain fi xed deposits amounting to $4,237,000 (2006 : $3,884,000) pledged to 
banks for bank loans facilities granted [Note 14 and 27(c)].

  Fixed deposits bear interest at an average rate from 1.30% to 1.88% (2006 : 1.48% to 2.90%) per 
annum and for a tenure of approximately 30 to 180 days (2006 : 30 to 180 days).

6 TRADE RECEIVABLES

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Outside parties 12,884    11,621
 Less:  Allowances for doubtful debts     (625) (650)

 Net 12,259 10,971
 Retention monies receivable (Note 8)  526      526
 Retention sum for development properties       69      306

  12,854 11,803

 Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

 Balance at beginning of the year 650 549
 Amounts written off against receivables (54) (5)
 Increase in allowance recognised in profi t and loss       29     106

 Balance at end of the year     625     650

  The average credit period on sales is 30 days (2006 : 30 days). No interest is charged on trade 
receivables. An allowance has been made for the estimated irrecoverable amount from the rendering 
of services to third parties of $625,000 (2006 : $650,000). This allowance has been determined by 
reference to past default experience. 
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6 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

  Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of $2,361,000 
(2006 : $2,902,000 ) which are past due at the reporting date for which the group has not provided 
as there has not been a signifi cant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered 
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances. 

  In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable the Group considers any change in the credit 
quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The 
concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. Accordingly 
the directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for 
the doubtful debts.

  Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are specifi c trade receivables with a balance of $304,000 
(2006 : $304,000) which have been placed under liquidation. The impairment recognised represents 
the difference between the carrying amount of the specifi c trade receivable and present value of 
expected liquidation proceeds. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

  The Group’s trade receivables that are not denominated in the functional currency of the Company is 
as follows:

   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 United States Dollar 12 -   
 Indonesian rupiah        6       12

7 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

 Group Company
  2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Income tax recoverable 2,401  2,401 -         -     
 Prepayments 259 275 20 18
 Deposits for plant and equipment 183 708 -    -   
 Advances to suppliers 100 683 -    -   
 Receivable from promoter (Note 9) -     382 -    -   
 Receivable for sale of plant and equipment 246 -    -    -   
 Deposits 181 -    -    -   
 Other receivables 75 14 74 13
 Subsidiaries (Note 11)    -        -     4,495 4,722

   3,445 4,463 4,589 4,753

  The amount due from the subsidiaries is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.  The 
Company has not made any provision as the directors are of the view that these receivables are 
collectible.

  The Group’s and Company’s other receivables and prepayments are denominated in the functional 
currency of the respective entities.
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8 CONTRACT WORK-IN-PROGRESS

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Costs and recognised profi t of uncompleted contracts
    in excess of related billings (included in current assets):

 Accumulated costs 335,151   169,339
 Recognised profi t 5,416 (4)
 Anticipated loss (514) (751)
 Accumulated billings (319,684) (151,728)

 Net    20,369    16,856

 Billings in excess of costs and recognised profi t on 
    uncompleted contracts (included in current liabilities):

 Accumulated billings 20,061  111,627
 Recognised profi t (1,322) (791)
 Accumulated costs (18,373)  (98,911)

 Net       366    11,925

 Movement of provision for anticipated loss (WIP):

 Balance at beginning of year 751 29
 Provision recognised – cost and recognised profi t of 
    uncompleted contracts in excess of related billing in current year 23    -  
 Amount reversed out for completed project (6) -  
 Provision (reversal) charged in profi t and loss (254) 722

   514 751

  As at December 31, 2007, retentions held by customers for construction contracts amounted to 
$526,000 (2006 : $526,000), and are included in trade receivables (Note 6). The contract work-in-
progress is classifi ed as current because they are expected to be realised in the normal operating 
cycle.
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9 HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Quoted equity shares:
    At cost   116   1,117
    Cumulative fair value adjustments    (26) (644)

    At fair value     90      473

 Movement in cumulative fair value adjustment:
 Balance at beginning of year 644 201
 Fair value adjustment:
    Reimbursed by the promoter in cash -    80
    Receivable from promoter (Note 7) -    382
    Write off of amount receivable from promoter (Note 7) (382) -
    Utilised (200) -
    Reversal to profi t and loss statement    (36)    (19)

 Balance at end of year    26      644

  In 2007, quoted equity shares with a net book value of $801,000 was written off due to liquidation of 
the investee.

  In 2006, the Company received compensation from the promoters in the form of additional shares 
with a market value of $131,000 at no cost.

  The investments above include investments in quoted equity securities that offer the Group the 
opportunity for return through dividend income and fair value gains.  They have no fi xed maturity or 
coupon rate.  The fair value of these securities are based on the quoted closing market prices on the 
last market day of the fi nancial year.

  The Group’s held for trading investments that are not denominated in the functional currency of the 
respective entities are as follows:

   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Australian dollars    -    1,000

10 AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENT
 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost 500 500

The investments in unquoted equity investments represent investments in a Company that is engaged 
in construction projects.  The directors estimate that the fair value of the investment approximates 
the cost.

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007



67Koon Holdings Limited annual report 2007

11 SUBSIDIARIES

 Company
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost 16,006 16,006

 Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Principal activity 
(Country of

incorporation/operation)
Cost of

investments

Proportion
of ownership

interest/voting
   power held   

2007 2006 2007 2006
$’000 $’000 % %

Koon Construction 
& Transport Co. Pte Ltd

Contractors for civil and
drainage engineering, building,
shore protection and, marine
and foundation works
(Singapore)

16,006 16,006 100 100

Entire Engineering
Pte Ltd *

Civil and drainage
engineering contractors
and rental of machinery
and equipment
(Singapore)

- - 100 100

Gems Marine Pte Ltd * Provision of tugboats and
barges services
(Singapore)     -         -     100 100

16,006 16,006

 The above subsidiaries are audited by Deloitte & Touche, Singapore.

 * Shares held by Koon Construction & Transport Co. Pte Ltd. 

12 ASSOCIATE
 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Unquoted equity shares, at cost  *   * 

 * Less than $1,000.

  This represents the Group’s 50% equity interest in Mesco Sdn Bhd, incorporated in Brunei.  The 
associate is dormant.
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

        Offi ce
        equipment,
  Leasehold Plant and   Dump Motor furniture
  building machinery Barges Tugboats trucks vehicles and fi ttings Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group

 Cost:
    At January 1, 2006 5,016 6,096 3,855 2,581 2,779 2,850 564 23,741
    Additions -     1,747 344 503 -     670 57 3,321
    Disposals    -     (1,377)    -       (902) (1,750) (1,123)  (32) (5,184)

    December 31, 2006 5,016 6,466 4,199 2,182 1,029 2,397 589 21,878
    Additions -     2,424 3,035 771 -     114 41 6,385
    Disposals    -     (3,310)    (487)    -        -         (96)  (34) (3,927)

    December 31, 2007 5,016 5,580 6,747 2,953 1,029 2,415 596  24,336

 Accumulated depreciation:
    At January 1, 2006 2,621 4,843 3,072 2,125 2,035 2,572 369 17,637
    Depreciation 239 250 365 205 206 265 115 1,645
    Disposal    -       (394)    -       (902) (1,750) (1,123)  (31) (4,200)

    At December 31, 2006 2,860 4,699 3,437 1,428    491 1,714 453 15,082
    Depreciation 239 212 269 58 71 90 89 1,028
    Disposal    -     (1,821)       (487)    -          -         (90) (33) (2,431)

    At December 31, 2007 3,099 3,090 3,219  1,486      562 1,714 509 13,679

 Carrying amount:
    At December 31, 2007 1,917 2,490 3,528 1,467    467    701   87 10,657

    At December 31, 2006 2,156 1,767    762    754    538    683 136   6,796

 a)  Plant and equipment with carrying amount of $2,872,311 (2006 : $2,767,000) are held under 
fi nance lease agreements.

 b)  The leasehold building is mortgaged to a bank for bank loans granted to a subsidiary (Note 
14). The leasehold building is located at 17B Pandan Road, Singapore 609269.
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

    Offi ce
    equipment,
    furniture
    and fi ttings
    $’000

 Company

 Cost:
     At January 1, 2006  82
     Additions  14

     At December 31, 2006  96
     Additions    2

     At December 31, 2007  98

 Accumulated depreciation:
    At January 1, 2006  40
    Depreciation  32

    At December 31, 2006  72
    Depreciation     20

    At December 31, 2007     92

 Carrying amount:
    At December 31, 2007    6

    At December 31, 2006  24
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14 LONG-TERM BANK LOAN

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Long-term bank loan  1,916  240
 Less: current portion   (593) (240)

 Non current portion 1,323   -  

 The borrowings are repayable as follows:

 On demand or within one year 593  240
 In the second year 1,323   -  

  1,916 240

 The Group has two principal bank loans:

 a)  Loan A bears effective interest rate of 3.91% per annum and is repayable in 47 equal 
instalments. The loan is secured by a charge over the Company’s barges with a carrying 
amount of $2,205,000. The loan carries at 1.2% plus one month SIBOR rate per annum.

 b)  Loan B bears effective interest rate of 3.09 % per annum and repayable in 35 equal instalments. 
The loan is secured by a charge over the Company’s tugboats with a carrying amount of 
$613,000 and fi xed deposits (Notes 5 and 13). The loan carries at 1.5% plus one month SIBOR 
rate per annum.

 c)  In 2006, the long-term bank loan bears interest at 5% (2005 : 5%) per annum and was repayable 
in 60 equal instalments commencing on September 2, 2002.  The loan is secured by a legal 
mortgage over a subsidiary’s leasehold property (Note 13) and joint and severable personal 
guarantees from certain directors of the subsidiary and the Company.

15 OTHER PAYABLES

 Group Company
  2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Accrued expenses 1,623  1,236 184  124
 Advance from investee Company 1,500 -     -   -  
 Subsidiaries     -        -       26   19

   3,123 1,236 210 143

 The advance from the investee is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

 The Group’s other payables are denominated in the functional currency of the respective entities.
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16 FINANCE LEASES

  Present value
 Minimum of minimum
 lease payments lease payments
  2007 2006 2007 2006
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group

 Amounts payable under fi nance leases:
 Within one year 887      996 784     897
 In the second to fi fth years inclusive 1,680 1,216 1,539 1,169

   2,567 2,212 2,323 2,066

 Less:  Future fi nance charges    (244)   (146)  

 Present value of lease obligations 2,323 2,066 
 Less: Amount due for settlement
             within 12 months   (784)   (897) 

 Amount due for settlement after 12 months 1,539 1,169

  It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its plant and equipment under fi nance leases.  The average 
lease term is 3 years.  For the year ended December 31, 2007, the average effective borrowing rate 
was 2.5% to 7% (2006 : 2.8% to 6.8% per annum).  Interest rates are fi xed at contract date, and thus 
expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.  All leases are on a fi xed repayment basis and no 
arrangement has been entered into for contingent rental payments.

 All lease obligations are denominated in Singapore dollars.

 The fair value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates their carrying amount.

 The Group’s obligations under fi nance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets.

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 At beginning of year 131 131
 Underprovision in prior year 27 -   
 Effect of change in tax rate (15) -  
 Charge for the year 278  -  

 At end of year 421 131

  The deferred tax liability arose from the excess of capital allowances claimed over depreciation 
charged on those assets which qualify for tax allowance.
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18 SHARE CAPITAL

 Group and Company
  2007 2006 2007 2006
  Number of ordinary shares $’000 $’000

 Issued and paid up:
    At beginning of year 81,000,000 81,000,000 6,660   4,050
    Transfer from share premium account        -                -            -    2,610

    At end of year 81,000,000 81,000,000 6,660 6,660

 The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fi xed income.

  As a result of the Companies (Amendment) Act 2005, the concept of authorised share capital and 
par value has been abolished. Any amount standing to the credit of the share premium account has 
been transferred to the Company’s share capital account on the effective date.

19 CAPITAL RESERVE

 (a)  On April 10, 2003, pursuant to a Restructuring Exercise, the then existing shareholders of 
Koon Construction & Transport Co. Pte Ltd (“KCTC”) transferred their entire equity interest 
comprising 16,006,400 ordinary shares of $1 each in KCTC to the Company in exchange for 
the issue of 59,999,998 ordinary shares of $0.05 each in the Company to the then existing 
shareholders.  As a result, KCTC became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.

 (b)  For accounting purposes, the Company accounted for its investment in KCTC as if it had 
owned KCTC from the date of incorporation and adopted the following to account for the 
effects of the Restructuring Exercise:

  (i)  The Company recorded a cost of investment in KCTC of $16,006,400 (being the issued 
and paid up capital of KCTC) and a capital reserve of $13,006,400 (being the difference 
between the par value of the 59,999,998 ordinary shares of $0.05 issued and cost of 
investment in KCTC); and

  (ii)  The Group recorded a credit in its accumulated profi ts of $615,000, being the audited 
accumulated profi t of the KCTC Group as at December 31, 2002, net of certain 
adjustments.
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20 REVENUE

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Revenue from contracts 135,106   102,797
 Charter income from barges 5,855 1,688
 Rendering of services 769 695
 Supply of machinery, equipment and labour 388 29
 Rental of machinery and equipment 219 -
 Interest income 106 158
 Sale of development property - 5,430
 Others       (28)         72

  142,415 110,869

21 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
 
 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Gain on disposal of plant and equipment 744   1,195
 Reversal of doubtful debts on trade receivables 35 29
 Rental income from property 605 478
 Dividend income (tax exempt one-tier) from available for sale investment 4,000 -    
 Dividend income (gross) – others 3      - 
 Others      78      25

  5,465 1,727

22 FINANCE COSTS

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Interest on:
    Bank loans 49      38
    Bank overdraft 3 10
    Finance leases 124     89

  176   137
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23 INCOME TAX

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Current tax 1 -    
 Deferred tax 
  -  Current year 262 -    
  -  Under provision in prior years     27     -    

 Income tax expense for the year     290     -    

  The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the 
Singapore income tax rate of 18% (2006 : 20%) to profi t before income tax as a result of the following 
differences:

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Profi t (Loss) before income tax 6,466 (2,809)

 Tax expense (benefi t) at the statutory income tax rate  1,164 (562)
 Effect of change in tax rate (15) -   
 Tax effect of expenses that are not taxable in determining taxable profi t (488) (216)
 Deferred tax (liability) benefi t not recognised (5) 806
 Tax effect of utilisation of deferred tax benefi ts previously not recognised (232) (63)
 Underprovision in prior years 27     -   
 Others   (161)      35

 Tax expense and effective tax rate for the year    290     -   

  Subject to the agreement by the Comptroller of Income Tax, the Group has tax losses carryforwards 
available for offsetting against future taxable income as follows:

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 At beginning of year 1,485    385
 Amount incurred  - 1,293
 Amount utilised (1,289)   (193)

 At end of year      196 1,485

 Deferred tax benefi t on above unrecorded      35    297
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23 INCOME TAX (Cont’d)

  Subject to the agreement by the Comptroller of Income Tax, the Group has temporary differences 
from capital allowances available for offsetting against future taxable income as follows:

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 At beginning of year    -       634
 Adjustments -    (511)
 Amount utilised in current year     -      (123)

 At end of year    -        -    

 Deferred tax benefi t on above unrecorded     -       -    

  The potential tax saving relating to tax losses carry forward and temporary differences from capital 
allowances is not recorded as an asset due to the unpredictability of future income.

  The realisation of the future income tax benefi ts from unabsorbed tax losses and temporary differences 
from capital allowances are available for an unlimited future period subject to the conditions imposed 
by law including the retention of majority shareholders as defi ned.

24 PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

 a) Profi t (loss) for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

  Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) 10,250 8,900
  Directors’ remuneration:
    -  directors of the Company 805 884
    -  director of a subsidiary 225 188
  Cost of defi ned contribution plans included in staff costs 797 622
  Directors’ fee 85 85
  Audit fees paid to auditors 82 62
  Non-audit fees paid to auditors 41 38
  Allowances for doubtful trade receivables 29 106
  Reversal of for impairment loss in value 
     of held for trading investments  (36) (19)
  Foreign exchange adjustment loss 17 2
  Gain on disposal of plant and equipment (744) (1,195)
  Held for trading investment written off 801 -    
  Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,028 1,645
  Provision (reversed) charged to profi t and loss (254) 722
  Cost of development properties included in cost of sales    -    4,266
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24 PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

 b) Number of directors of the Group in remuneration bands:

    2007
   Executive Non-executive Total

  $250,000 to $499,999  1 - 1
  Below $250,000  3 3 6

  Total 4 3 7

    2006
   Executive Non-executive Total

  $250,000 to $499,999  1 - 1
  Below $250,000  2 3 5

  Total 3 3 6

 c)  The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were 
as follows:

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

  Short-term benefi ts 1,093     944
  Post-employment benefi ts     22      17

   1,115    961

  The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the remuneration committee 
having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

 
 
25 EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

 Group
   2007 2006

 Profi t (Loss) for the year attributable to shareholders (in $’000)   6,176  (2,809)

 Number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 
    basic earnings per share (in ’000) 81,000 81,000

 Earnings (Loss) per share (cents):     7.62  (3.47)

 
 There is no dilution as there were no share options outstanding at the end of the year. 
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26 BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION
 
  Segmental reporting - Segment information is based on distinguishable components of the Group 

that are engaged either in providing products and services (business segments), or in providing 
products or services within a particular economic environment (geographical segments), which are 
subjected to risks and rewards that are different from those other segments.

 
  Segment information is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments.  

The primary format, business segments, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporting 
structure.

  Segmental results, assets and liabilities includes item directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.  Unallocated corporate assets and liabilities 
consist mainly of corporate assets and corporate liabilities that cannot be attributable to any specifi c 
segment. Unallocated corporate assets and liabilities include associates and income tax payable 
respectively.  Unallocated corporate results include the share of results of associates, income tax 
expense and corporate expenses that are not attributable to any specifi c segment.

(a) Business segments

  The businesses of the Group can be divided into 4 main segments, namely “Reclamation”, 
“Water and Power”, “Road, Bridges and others”, and “Development property”.

  Segment revenue and expense:  Segment revenue and expense are the operating revenue 
and expense reported in the Group’s profi t and loss statement that are directly attributable to 
a segment and the relevant portion of such revenue and expense that can be allocated on a 
reasonable basis to a segment.

  Segment assets and liabilities:  Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment 
and consist principally of operating receivables, inventories and property, plant and equipment, 
net of allowances and provisions.  Capital additions include the total cost incurred to acquire 
property, plant  and equipment, and intangible assets directly attributable to the segment.  
Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities and consist principally of accounts payable 
and accruals.

  Inter-segment transfers:  Segment revenue and expenses include transfers between business 
segments.  Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.  These transfers are 
eliminated on consolidation.
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26 BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
 

(a) Business segments (Cont’d)

     Group

     Road
    Water Bridges Development
   Reclamation and Power and others    property    Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  2007
 
  REVENUE
 
  Revenue 536 56,999 84,880    -      142,415

 
  RESULT
 
  Segment result 7 792 1,179 -      1,978
  Unallocated corporate
     income     5,465
  Unallocated corporate
     expense     (801)
  Finance costs     (176)

  Profi t before income tax     6,466
  Income tax     (290)

  Profi t after income tax        6,176

  
  OTHER INFORMATION
 
  Additions of plant and
     equipment 24 2,555 3,806 -      6,385
  Depreciation     4      411      613    -          1,028

  BALANCE SHEET
 
  ASSETS
 
  Segment assets 181 19,242 28,654 -     48,077
  Unallocated corporate
     assets       9,498

  Total assets     57,575

  LIABILITIES
 
  Segment liabilities 101 10,786 16,062 -     26,949
  Unallocated corporate
     liabilities       6,087

  Total liabilities     33,036
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26 BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
 

(a) Business segments (Cont’d)
     Group

     Road
    Water Bridges Development
   Reclamation and Power and others    property    Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

  2006
 
  REVENUE
 
  Revenue 14,667 8,408 82,364 5,430 110,869

  RESULT
 
  Segment result (771) (442) (4,333) 1,147 (4,399)
  Unallocated corporate
     income     1,727
  Finance costs     (137)

  Loss before income tax     (2,809)
  Income tax            -

  Loss after income tax       (2,809)

  OTHER INFORMATION
 
  Additions of plant and
     equipment 462 267 2,592 -     3,321
  Depreciation       229    131   1,285    -         1,645

  BALANCE SHEET
 
  ASSETS
 
  Segment assets 6,148 3,524 34,522 306 44,500
  Unallocated corporate
     assets         4,738

  Total assets       49,238

  LIABILITIES
 
  Segment liabilities 3,866 2,216 21,711 -     27,793
  Unallocated corporate     
     liabilities        3,082

  Total liabilities      30,875

 
 (b) Geographical segments

   The Group operates in Singapore only hence no further disclosure is made on the geographical 
segments.
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27 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS

 As at the balance sheet date, the Group has:

 a)  given unsecured letters of indemnity and performance bonds amounting to $15,460,000 
(2006 : $15,420,000) to third parties in the ordinary course of business in respect of 
construction contracts undertaken;

 b)  issued unsecured performance guarantee amounting to approximately $2,208,000 (2006 : 
$2,771,000) in respect of materials supplied for a period of 10 years from the date of completion 
of the respective project from June 1997 and January 1998;

 c)  obtained secured bankers guarantee issued in favour of third parties amounting to $1,692,000 
(2006 : $2,607,000) in the ordinary course of business in respect of construction contracts 
undertaken;

 d)  given unsecured corporate guarantee amounting to $3,653,000 (2006 : $1,647,000) to a 
subsidiary for the purchase of plant and equipment; and

 e)  capital commitment contracted but not provided for in the consolidated fi nancial statements 
amounting to $183,000 (2006 : $1,652,000). 

28 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Lessee

 Minimum lease payments under operating leases included in
    profi t and loss statement 1,104   213

  At the balance sheet date, the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating 
leases which fall due as follows:

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Within one year 664    213
 In the second to fi fth year inclusive 898 851
 After fi ve years    636    800

  2,198 1,864

  Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for rent of offi ce premises.  Leases 
are negotiated for an average term of 10 years.

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
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28 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS (Cont’d)

 Lessor

  The Group rents out part of its premises under certain non-cancellable operating leases and under 
a certain arrangement without contract.  Rental income earned during the year was S$965,000 
(2006 : S$1,016,000).

  At the balance sheet date, the Group has contracted with tenants for the following future minimum 
lease payments:

 Group
   2007 2006
   $’000 $’000

 Within one year 379     229
 In the second to fi fth year inclusive 1,422    -    

  1,801    229

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
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In the opinion of the directors, the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company and 
consolidated fi nancial statements of the Group set out on pages 40 to 81 are drawn up so as to give a true 
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at December 31, 2007 and of the 
results, changes in equity and cash fl ows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year 
then ended and at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will 
be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Oh Koon Sun

Oh Keng Lim

February 28, 2008

Statement of Directors
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Fifth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at 
17B Pandan Road, Koon Building, Singapore 609269 on 28 April 2008 at 10.30 a.m. for the following 
purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Accounts for the fi nancial year ended 31 
December 2007 together with the Reports of the Directors and the Auditors of the 
Company.

 
2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring under Article 91 of the Company’s 

Articles of Association:

 i. Mr Oh Koon Sun;

 ii. Ms Glenda Sorrell-Saunders;

 Ms Glenda Sorrell-Saunders will, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, 
remain a member each of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and 
Nominating Committee.

 
3. To consider and, if though fi t, pass the following resolution:

 “That Mr Oh Keng Lim, who is above 70 years of age and whose offi ce as Director 
shall be vacant at the conclusion of this Annual General Meeting in accordance 
with section 153(2) of the Companies Act, Cap 50 be and is hereby re-appointed as 
a Director of the Company to hold offi ce until the next Annual General Meeting.”

4. To approve Directors’ fees of S$93,500 for the fi nancial year ended 31 December 
2007.

5. To re-appoint Deloitte & Touche as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the 
Directors to fi x their remuneration.

 
6. To transact any other business that may be transacted at an Annual General 

Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

7. To consider and, if thought fi t, to pass the following resolution as an Ordinary 
Resolution, with or without modifi cations:

 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50 and the listing rules 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited, authority be and is hereby 
given to the Directors to issue shares and convertible securities in the Company 
(whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise) at any time and upon such terms 
and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors 
may in their absolute discretion deem fi t provided that the aggregate number of 
shares and convertible securities to be issued pursuant to this Resolution does 
not exceed fi fty per cent (50%) of the issued share capital of the Company at the 
date of this Resolution, of which the aggregate number of shares and convertible 
securities to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the 
Company does not exceed fi fteen per cent (15%) of the issued share capital of 
the Company at the date of this Resolution, and, unless revoked or varied by 
the Company in general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until the 
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by 
which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be 
held, whichever is the earlier.”

Notice of Annual General Meeting

(Resolution 1)

(Resolution 2)

(Resolution 3)

(Resolution 4)

(Resolution 5)

(Resolution 7)

(Resolution 6)

Company Registration No. 200303284M
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8. To consider and, if thought fi t, pass the following ordinary resolution with or without 
any modifi cations:

 “That the Board of Directors of the Company be and is hereby authorised to 
offer and grant options in accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share 
Option Scheme (the “ESOS”) and pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, 
Cap 50, to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the capital 
of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of the 
options under the Scheme provided always that the aggregate number of shares 
to be issued pursuant to the ESOS shall not exceed fi fteen per cent (15%) of the 
total issued share capital of the Company from time to time and provided also 
that, subject to such adjustments as may be made to the ESOS as a result of any 
variation in the capital structure of the Company.”

By Order of the Board

Ong Beng Hong/Tan Swee Gek
Joint Company Secretaries

31 March 2008

Explanatory Note:

I. The Ordinary Resolution proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors from the 
passing of the above Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, to allot and issue 
shares and convertible securities in the Company up to an amount not exceeding, in total, 50% of the 
issued share capital of the Company at the time of passing of this resolution, of which up to 15% may 
be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders.

II. The Ordinary Resolution proposed under item 8 above, if passed, will authorise the Directors to offer 
and grant options in accordance with the provisions of the Employee Share Option Scheme (the 
“ESOS”) and pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 to allot and issue shares 
under the ESOS. The ESOS was approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting 
on 16 April 2003.

Notes: 

1) A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or 
proxies (not more than two) to attend and vote on his/her behalf. A proxy need not be a member of 
the Company.

2) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his/her 
attorney duly authorised in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed 
by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an offi cer or attorney 
duly authorised.

3) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered offi ce of the 
Company at 17B Pandan Road, Koon Building, Singapore 609269 at least 48 hours before the time 
fi xed for the Meeting.

(Resolution 8)

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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General Information

Board of Directors : Dr Wang Kai Yuen (Non-Executive Chairman and independent Director)
  Oh Keng Lim (Executive Director)
  Oh Koon Sun (Executive Director)
  Christopher Chong Meng Tak (Non-Executive and independent Director)
  Glenda Mary Sorrell-Saunders (Non-Executive and independent Director)

Singapore Company Secretary : Ong Beng Hong, LLB (Hons)
  Tan Swee Gek, LLB (Hons)

Australia Company Secretary : Harvey John Gibson, FCA

Singapore Registered Offi ce : 17B Pandan Road
  Singapore 609269

Australia Registered Offi ce : Level 2, 174 Collins Street
  Hobart, TAS 7000, Australia

Singapore Share Registrar and : Lim Associates (Pte) Ltd
Share Transfer Offi ce  No 3 Church Street #08-01 Samsung Hub
  Singapore 049483

Australia Share Registrar and : Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Share Transfer Offi ce  Yarra Falls, 452 Johnston Street,
  Abbotsford, Victoria 3067, Australia

Auditors : Deloitte & Touche
  Certifi ed Public Accountants
  6 Shenton Way #32-00
  DBS Building Tower 2
  Singapore 068809

  Partner: Aric Loh Siang Khee 
  (Appointed on April 10, 2003)

Principal Bankers : The Development Bank of Singapore Ltd
  6 Shenton Way
  DBS Building Tower 1
  Singapore 068809

  Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
  65 Chulia Street OCBC Centre
  Singapore 049513

Land & Building : Head Offi ce & Workshop
  17B Pandan Road,
  Koon Building
  Singapore 609269

  Size: 150,469 sf

  Title: Leasehold 10 years with effect from 7 November 2005

Our principal place of business is at 17B Pandan Road, Singapore 609269
Our telephone number is (65) 6261 5788
Our facsimile number is (65) 6266 0117
Our website address is www.koon.com.sg
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